
Mrs J Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700

Date: 25 January 2019

MEETING OF COMMUNITY & RESOURCES
On: Monday 4 February 2019 At: 10.00 am

Venue: Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 
2HS

NOTICE OF MEETING

To: Councillor D Hurley (Chair)
Councillor A Dart (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: D Brenton, K Davis, P Hackett, R Hicks, J Himan, S Inch, R Lock, 
D McGeough, J Whittaker and R Wiseman

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)

1.  Apologies for Absence 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.  Public Contributions 
Public contributions in accordance with the current scheme

3.  Forward Plan (Page 3)

4.  Declarations of Interest 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.

5.  Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II 



- 2 -

6.  Urgent Matters of information to be brought forward with the permission of the 
Chair and the Committee 

7.  Budget 2019/20, Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-20 to 2023-24 (Pages 4 - 
25)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

(a)  Proposed changes to Council Tax Legislation - Long Term Empty Properties 
and Review Current Council Tax Local Discount Policy (Pages 26 - 32)
To receive the report of the Customer Support Manager

(b)  New Homes Bonus Community Grants (Pages 33 - 36)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

8.  Homelessness (Temporary Accommodation) (Pages 37 - 45)
To receive the report of the Customer Support Manager

9.  Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2025-26 (Pages 46 - 55)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

10.  Annual Review of Parking - Recommendation from Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee (Pages 56 - 59)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

11.  Exclusion of the Public 
The Chair to move:

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I and paragraph 10 
of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

12.  PART II (CLOSED SESSION) 

Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services



COMMUNITY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN – 2018/2019

Leadership 15 May 2018
2pm 

26 June 2018
2pm

14 August 2018
2pm 

25 Sept 2018
2pm 

13 Nov. 2018
2pm 

8 January 2019
2pm 

12 February 2019
2pm 

9 April 2019
3pm 

Community 
& Resources

(Mondays)

4 June 2018
10am 

16 July 2018
6.30pm

TUESDAY
28 August 2018

10am

15 October 2018
6.30pm 

26 November 2018
10am

14 January 2019
6.30pm 

4 March 2019
10am

TUESDAY
23 April 2019

10am

Finance Draft Outturn Report 
(DH)

Performance QBR Q1
(Any 

recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q2
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q3
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

Other Bradworthy 
Community Transfer 

(AW)

Bone Hill Northam 
Community Transfer 

(AW)

Use of Blo Karts on 
Westward Ho! 

beach for 2018 (SK)

Devon Wide 
Housing Assistance 

Policy (under the 
RRO) (Janet 

Williams)

Gypsy & Traveller 
Site (ST)

Hotel site at 
Westward Ho! (JH)

Private Sector 
Housing 

Enforcement Policy 
(Janet W)

Housing of Asylum 
Seekers (ST) 

Demolition of Cattle 
Market Buildings 

(SH) 

Debt recovery 
presentation by Council 

Tax Team Leader 

G&T Update (ST)

Part II
Non recoverable debts 

(ST)

Torridge Business 
Investment Scheme

(SK)

BMX Track – fencing 
issues (Plans meeting 

Aug 18) (AR)

Capital Programme & 
PiDs (SH)

S215 Notices (C 
Fuller)

Notice of Motion  (Cllr 
Cottle-Hunkin) 

(Torrington Play Area) 
(SK)

Notice of Motion 
Westward Ho! Park 
(Cllr PC & DB) (SK)

Annual Parking Review 
to include displaying 

machines (SK)

Littering and fly tipping 
(Janet W)

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy (Janet W)

Northern Devon 
Tourism Strategy (SK)

PART II
Non recoverable debts 

(ST)

TDC Play Strategy – 
Funding for 

commissioning of 
Consultants (JJ)

Fees and Charges (SH)

Business Rates – 
Retail Relief Policy (ST)

4 March 2019

Avon Lane site Petition 
(referred from FC on 

1.10.18)

Avon Lane site – Notice 
of Motion – Cllr Laws 

(SK)

Proposed alteration to 
Covenant - Hotel Site 
Westward Ho (AW)

Sole Traders Business 
Investment Scheme

(SK)

Communities Together 
Fund (SK)

4 February 2019
Budget Special

New Homes bonus year 
4 - funds and procedures 

(JJ)

Budget 2019/20, Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 
and Capital Programme 

(SH/DH)

Car Parking Pilot 
scheme (SK)

Homelessness 
(Temporary 

Accommodation) (ST)

Changes to Council Tax 
Legis. Etc. (ST)

Rec. from O&S – 
consideration of car 
parking pilot (SK)

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 3



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Strategic Manager (Resources)

To: Community and Resources Committee

Subject: Budget 2019/20, Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 – 2023/24 

Date: 4th February 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:  For Members to consider, formulate and recommend the Budget 
2019/20 to Full Council.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) indicates the possible extent of the budget and 
funding shortfall that the Council will face in the future. It is an aid in identifying the extent of 
service changes that the Council will need to make to achieve a balanced budget in each financial 
year up to 2023/24

1. Introduction

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides an annual update of the Council’s 
financial situation for the current and forthcoming five years.  It illustrates through the 
application of forecasts and assumptions where and how spending pressures could 
materialise, how different funding sources may change and the savings plans required to 
manage any identified revenue budget gap.   The funding of public services has been cut 
year on year since 2010 and the recent Spending Review and Provisional Local 
Government Settlement confirmed that the squeeze will continue for some years yet. 

1.2. The MTFS provides the basis for the members to consider the 2019/20 budget and also 
whether an increase in Council Tax should be recommended to Full Council for 2019/20.

1.3. Whilst considering the 2019/20 Budget and the MTFS it is prudent to review and assess the 
levels and types of financial reserves the Council holds.  This review is conducted in light of 
the levels of risk the Council faces and the potential financial impact if a major risk comes to 
fruition.

1.4. The Council’s capital investment plan detailing the resources it has available are 
considered in a separate report.

2. Report

2.1. The Council’s MTFS considers the changing financial situation covering six financial years, 
2018/19 (base year) to 2023/24.  Longer term projections can be made, but they become 
less realistic the further ahead the forecast is made and therefore five years ahead is 
considered prudent to model.  The starting position is the 2018/19 budget, which is rolled 
forward based on a set of assumptions as set out throughout the report.  It is important to 
note that these are only assumptions and not specific decisions as these will need to be 
considered on an annual basis during the budget setting process.

2.2. It is worth emphasising that Torridge has successfully achieved all the savings targets 
required since the global financial crisis started, setting and delivering a balanced budget 
despite ever continuing reductions in Central Government funding.  

2.3. Local Authorities continue to operate in a challenging environment, with ongoing reductions 
in Central Government grant funding. Increasingly Councils (particularly Shire Districts) are 
reliant upon the monies they generate from Council Tax, Business Rates and Fees & 
Charges The cuts to all local authority funding and the movement away from central 
revenue support grant funding is illustrated below.

Page 4

Agenda Item 7



3. Financial Environment for Local Authorities

3.1  Members will be aware from the media that Northamptonshire County Council has issued 
two Section 114 notices (suspension of all non essential spend). Whilst the factors behind 
the financial problems facing Northamptonshire Council are many, the key factor was the 
inability of the Council to address the reductions to its funding by either increasing its 
Council Tax or reducing expenditure.  Other County Councils and Unitaries such as 
Somerset, Surrey, Lancashire and Torbay have been widely reported as facing severe 
financial pressure.

A recent National Audit Office report “sustainability of local authorities 2018” projected that 
1 in 10 Councils will run out of reserve within the next three years.

3.2 Audit opinion on VFM

The Council External Auditors annual report reported presented to Audit & Governance 
Committee in July 2018 commented upon the deficit identified within the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial strategy. The report highlighted the need for the Council to 
formulate plans to bridge the identified deficit.  With the attention shone on Councils in 
light of events at Northamptonshire, Torridge’s External Auditors will be focussing greater 
attention upon the Council’s savings plans.   

3.3 CIPFA Resilience Index

In recognition of the challenging financial environment faced by local authorities, CIPFA 
has developed a financial resilience index which assesses local authorities’ against 
several indicators.  The indicators include amongst others

 reserve depletion time, 
 level of reserves 
 level of unallocated reserves
 level of earmarked reserves
 Council tax to net revenue expenditure
 Business Rate Income to net expenditure

Page 5



After applying these indicators CIPFA found that between 10 – 15% of Councils were not 
financially stable, Torridge is not in this group of councils.

However it should be noted that whilst the overall level of reserves held by Torridge are 
average for the sector; the level of unallocated reserves held by Torridge are significantly 
below the norm.  

The other Torridge indicator of concern is the ratio of council tax income to net expenditure. 
The indicator provides a measure of the relative importance of council tax and grant 
funding. A lower ratio (such as Torridge) suggests a higher dependency on grant funding, 
putting the Council at risk as grant income diminishes.  Income from council tax is judged to 
be more stable and predictable.

For 2019/20 the CIPFA Resilience Index is not publicly available and will not be reported on 
an authority by authority basis. However this may change in future years.

4. 2019-20 Provisional Settlement

Given 2019/20 is the last year of the four year settlement which Torridge and 97% of all councils 
signed up to, the provisional settlement contained few surprises. Overall the settlement was slightly 
more favourable to Torridge than had been previously predicted. The key points are summarised 
below:

 Council Tax Referendum Limits
o The referendum limits were unchanged for Torridge this means that Council Tax for 

a Band D can be increased by £5 or 3% which ever is the greater. A £5 increase to 
a Band D property for Torridge equates to 3.15%.

o Upper tier authorities such as Devon CC and Devon & Somerset Fire Authority can 
increase their Council Tax by 3%.

o The continuation of the adult social care precept was confirmed. Maximum 
flexibility of 2% of band D in 2019-20, subject to a 6% increase for the period 
2017-18 to 2019-20. For Devon CC this means that in addition to the 3% general 
increase to the Council Tax, they can also raise an additional 2% social care 
precept in 2019/20.

o Police and Crime Commissioners such as Devon and Cornwall can increase 
their Band D precept by £24 without triggering a referendum, which equates to 
12.75% for Devon & Cornwall Police Commissioner.

o There is no referendum limits for Town and Parish Councils

 Rural Delivery Grant
o In recognition that Councils in sparsely populated areas incur additional costs, such 

as refuse collection, Central Government provides a Rural Delivery Grant to rural 
authorities such as Torridge.  Central Government has allocated an additional £16m 
nationally in the 2019/20 settlement to maintain the Rural Delivery Grant at its 
2018/19 levels; Torridge’s share of this additional funding being £94k in 2019/20 
(£474k in total). 

 New Homes Bonus
o Central Government allocated an additional £18m nationally to ensure there were 

no changes to the rules governing the allocation of New Homes Bonus monies, 
consequently the deadweight adjustment of 0.4% above which housing growth is 
rewarded remained unchanged.

Page 6



 Distribution of Surplus on National Business Rate Levy Account
o The levy account has collected surpluses from surpluses on local authorities 

business rates collection fund accounts, the levy being intended to fund safety net 
payments to those authorities whose business rate income fell by more than 7.5%.  
As levy receipts have exceeded safety net payments Central Government has 
decided to distribute £180m surplus funds from this account in 2018/19; Torridge 
share being £35k.

 Social Care Grant Funding
o Two new social care grant were announced; Winter Pressure Grant £240m and 

Social Care Support Grant £410m; as a lower tier authority Torridge will not receive 
any of this additional funding.

 Retail Relief – Business Rates
o The Government has announced a new relief scheme for retail properties that have 

a rateable value of below £51,000. Under the scheme, eligible ratepayers will 
receive a one third discount of their chargeable amount (after other reliefs have 
been applied).  The retail relief will be in effect for 2019/20 and 2020/21 and 
potentially eligible businesses will have the relief automatically added to their 
account.  

o State aid rules will apply to the retail relief, the rules prevent businesses from 
receiving in excess of 200,000 euros (circa £178,500) in state aid over a three year 
period way. This means that relief will be capped for national chains such as Tesco 
Metro, McColls etc.

o Councils will be compensated for their loss of business rate income as a result of 
the awarding of this additional relief via Section 31 Grant.  Within Torridge it is 
estimated that the additional relief offered to retail businesses will be in the region of 
£440k.

 Business Rate Pilot
o For 2018/19 Torridge is a member of the Devon Business Rate Pilot, the pilot 

ensures that all business rates collected are retained within Devon. The estimated 
financial benefit to Torridge of its membership of the pilot is circa £374k, these 
monies have been earmarked for economic development.  

o Devon’s application to be a pilot in 2019/20 was unsuccessful, consequently from 
2019/20 Torridge will revert to being a member of the Devon Business Rate Pool 
which is significantly less financially advantageous. In 2017/18 the financial benefit 
of Torridge’s membership of the Devon Business Rates Pool was £89k.

The Table below summarises the grant funding assumed within the MTFS

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Grant Funding £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue Support Grant 131 0 0 0 0
Rural Delivery Grant 474 380 380 380 380
New Homes Bonus 1,189 1,014 897 957 1,096
Preventing Homelessness 144 0 0 0 0
Total 1,938 1,394 1,277 1,337 1,476

The provisional settlement does not however provide the full picture with regards to funding as the 
national Government model also assumes levels of growth in business rates income and council 
tax income, which are dealt with separately.

Page 7



5. Business Rates Retention 

5.1 Under the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) introduced in 2013/14 Torridge 
Council retains 40% of the business rates collected within the Torridge area. Prior to 
2013/14 local authorities such as Torridge collected business rates on an agency basis on 
behalf of Central Government, with Central Government bearing any losses arising from 
non collection and business rate appeals.

5.2 Whilst Torridge Council benefits from growth in business rates income within its area, it also 
shares the risk of lost income arising from non collection and appeals. Since its inception 
the scheme has become increasingly complex with Central Government introducing new 
reliefs, most notably pertaining to small businesses.  Local authorities such as Torridge 
receive compensation for the lost of income as the volume of reliefs awarded have 
increased via Section 31 Grants. 

5.3 Business rates are periodically subject to national revaluations; these revaluations are 
intended to be fiscally neutral at a national and local level for funding purposes. The 
amounts levied on individual businesses will can go up or down. The revaluations are 
designed to reset business rates taking into account the changes in the property market.  
The latest revaluation came into effect from the 1st April 2017. 

5.4 Past experience informs that following such revaluations there is an increase in the number 
of business rate appeals lodged.  There are currently 61 outstanding revaluations against 
the 2010 valuation list, with a total rateable value of £5.5m.  The Council has set aside a 
provision against the future settlement of these appeals of £867k, of which Torridge’s share 
at 40% is £347k.

5.5 With effect from 1st April 2017, the process by which businesses submit appeals against 
their business rates changed. A new system of check, challenge and appeal places greater 
responsibility on the business appealing to provide supporting evidence for the grounds of 
their appeal.  Previously rating agents could lodge appeals on a speculative basis, in order 
to “gather up” clients prior to allocating resources to those with the greatest chance of 
success. 

5.6 As a result of the new system of check, challenge and appeal, the volume of appeals 
against the 2017 valuation list compared to appeals against the 2010 list has reduced 
markedly. As at the time of this report there were no outstanding appeals against the 2017 
list, and just two outstanding challenges.  Whilst the low volume of challenges and appeals 
would appear to be encouraging, some degree of caution is appropriate.  Rating agents 
acting on behalf of businesses generally receive a percentage of the business rates they 
save for their clients.  As successful appeals are backdated it may be in the interest of the 
rating agents to delay the submission of appeals in order to maximise their eventual 
income.  

5.7 Since the inception of the Business Rate Retention Scheme in 2013/14 there has been an 
underlying growth in the Business Rate Base within Torridge. In addition to  new 
businesses at Caddsdown such as Aldi, Lidl, Brewers Fayre, Premier Inn etc; there has 
been a growth in the number of properties registered as holiday homes and subject to 
Business Rates.

 
5.8 There is currently a government consultation pertaining to tightening the criteria under 

which premises can be registered as holiday homes.  There is some suspicion that some 
properties may be registered as holiday homes merely to avoid paying Council Tax. The 
vast majority of holiday homes are entitled to small business relief and consequently do not 
pay any business rates; however Torridge is compensated for this loss income through 
Section 31 Grant. Furthermore premises assessed for Business Rates are required to enter 
into Trade Waste agreements which have not always happened.

Page 8



Should there be significant movement of properties from Business Rates to Council Tax this 
will result in a loss of income to the Council since Torridge share of Council Tax is less than 
9%; under the current Business Rate Retention regime Torridge’s share of Business Rates 
is 40%.

6. Council Tax

6.1 In 2018/19 a Band D Council Tax within Torridge is £158.66 with an estimated collectable tax 
base of 23,552 Band D equivalent properties.  This equates to £3.736m income from council 
tax being available during the year.

6.2 On the 10th December 2018 Full Council approved the tax base for 2019/20 at 23,790 band 
D equivalent properties, representing an increase of 238 from 2018/19.

6.3 The Government’s assessment of Core Spending Power (resources available to the local 
authority sector) is built on the expectation that Council Tax will increase year on year, 
within the approved referendum limits, currently set at 3% or £5 per band D (which ever is 
the greater) for Shire Districts.  Central Government also assumes an underlying growth to 
the Council Tax Base of 1.96%, the growth in Torridge’s Tax Base for the last two financial 
years has averaged less than 1%.

6.4 It is vitally important to consider the longer term cumulative impact of council tax increases 
as once a charge has been included in the tax base it has a much longer financial benefit 
than simply the year it was increased.

6.5 Members in previous financial years have made the decision to freeze council tax, in some 
years the Council was partly compensated by non recurrent council tax freeze grant funding 
from Central Government.  The graph below shows the impact that freezing the Council Tax 
in prior years has had upon the income the Council can currently collect from Council Tax.  

If the Council in previous years had increased the Council Tax in line with the relevant 
referendum limits it would be able to levy an additional £368k per annum in Council Tax 
Income (as at 2018/19).  The cumulative council Income forgone over this period is just 
under £2m.

Page 9



6.6 As Torridge’s share of the total council tax bill is a relatively small percentage of the 
total council tax bill, the impact on the individual Council Tax payers if Torridge had 
increased the Council Tax by the approved referendum limits would have been 
relatively minor. The table below illustrates this. 

By way of illustration for a Band D taxpayer the additional charge in 2018/19 would 
be £15.55 greater at £174.20 equating to 30p extra per week.

Council 
Tax Band

Actual 
2018/19 
Council 

Tax 
Charged

2018/19 
Council Tax (if 
increased by 
Referendum 

Limits)

Additional 
charge to 

Council Tax 
payers 

forgone

Equates 
to 

weekly 
increase 

A £105.77 £116.13 £10.37 £0.20
B £123.39 £135.49 £12.09 £0.23
C £141.02 £154.84 £13.82 £0.27
D £158.65 £174.20 £15.55 £0.30
E £193.91 £212.91 £19.01 £0.37
F £229.16 £251.62 £22.46 £0.43
G £264.42 £290.33 £25.92 £0.50
H £317.30 £348.40 £31.10 £0.60

6.7 As alluded to above Torridge’s share of the total council tax bill is relatively small. The table 
below shows Torridge share of the 2018/19 Council Tax (8.71%) and its share of the total 
2019/20 council tax liability (8.50%) assuming all preceptors raise their council tax by 
the approved referendum limits.  

Preceptors
2018/19 
Charge 

(Band D)

2018/19 - % of 
total Council 

Tax

2019/20 
Council Tax - 
if raised to 

Referendum 
limits

2019/20 - 
% of total 

Council 
Tax

Torridge Council 158.66 8.71% 163.66 8.50%
Devon County 1331.19 73.09% 1397.62 72.62%
Police & Crime Commissioner 188.28 10.34% 212.28 11.03%
Devon & Somerset Fire 84.01 4.61% 86.53 4.50%
Town & Parish (average) 59.09 3.24% 64.41 3.35% ****
Total Charge 1,821.23 100.00% 1,924.49 100.00%

**** No Referendum limits for Parish & Town Councils; estimated 2019/20 uplift

Page 10



6.8 The table below shows the increasing reliance of local authorities nationally on Council Tax 
as a source of revenue.

***CSP = Comprehensive Spending Power, SFA = Settlement Funding Assessment

7. New Homes Bonus Income

7.1 New Homes Bonus funding rewards Councils for increases to the number of properties in their 
area; it also rewards Councils for reducing the number of long term empty properties. Since its 
inception there have been two changes to the rules governing NHB:

 Reducing the reward period for additional properties from 6 years to 4 years.

 Introduction of a deadweight adjustment of 0.4%; resulting in councils only being 
rewarded for additional property growth over and above 0.4%.  For Torridge this meant 
only property growth above circa 100 properties generated NHB grant funding.

The impact of these changes and the slow down in the number of new properties built is 
shown below.

Page 11



2019/20 is the last confirmed year under the current New Homes Bonus (NHB) arrangements. 
It is not clear at this juncture if it will continue in its current guise beyond 2020/21.

The MTFS in the absence of clear  guidance from Central Government assumes that NHB will 
continue forward based upon the current rules.

8. Budget 2019-20

8.1 Full Council on the 26th February 2018 agreed a net revenue budget of £10.31m; the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) highlighted to members a deficit for 2019/20 of £388k rising to 
£433k by 2022-23. 

The budget setting process for 2019-20 has identified various pressures and savings, which 
have been incorporated into a revised MTFS, the most significant are expanded upon below:

 Homelessness
o The Council has experienced significant financial pressures pertaining to 

homelessness; due to recent legislation the Council has increased 
homelessness responsibilities.  Additionally the lack of affordable rental 
accommodation within Torridge at LHA (Local Housing Allowance) rates, has led 
to increased stays within temporary accommodation as officers struggle to 
obtain sustainable tenancies on behalf of their clients.

o The Council is only partly reimbursed (via Housing Benefit) for the costs of 
temporary accommodation.  The LHA rate for a single person is £92.05 per 
week, however temporary accommodation costs can often be in the region of 
£400 - £600 per week; the difference being borne by the Council.

o The Council will receive Preventing Homelessness Grant Funding in 2019/20 of 
£144k which will partly offset this pressure. Funding beyond 2019/20 has not 
been confirmed. Central Government has indicated that they are targeting the 
eradication of rough sleeping by 2027.

 Local Government Association (LGA) Pay Award
o The LGA and the relevant unions agreed a two year pay settlement effective 

from 1st April 2018/19.  The agreement for 2019/20 removed some salary points, 
amalgamated other salary points and created new salary points.  Consequently 
the Council has had to revisit its salary grades to accommodate these changes.  
This process has resulted in an increase to the overall salary costs of the 
Council.

 Job Evaluation
o A recent job evaluation process has resulted in an increase to the salary costs of 

the Council’s HGV drivers within the Operations team

 Revised Waste Collection Service
o Members will recall that the Council introduced a revised Waste Collection 

service effective from June 2018. The key components of the new service being:
 Alternative weekly collection of residual waste
 Weekly collection of recycling
 Introduction of chargeable green waste service
 Separate Food Collections

o The service has been operational for nine months, the original resources 
allocated to the service have been re-examined in light of the greater than 
anticipated recycling tonnages and other operational issues. Consequently 
additional staffing resources have needed to be assigned to the service.

Page 12



o The recycling tonnages collected and the take up of the green waste service 
have both exceeded projections, consequently the income targets for both have 
been revised upwards.

 Agency Budgets
o The refuse collection utilises agency staff for a variety of reasons:

 Cover for sickness
 Vacancies
 Annual Leave

o Agency staff costs have risen for two reasons:
 Agency working regulations oblige employers to pay agency staff the 

same salary (after 12 weeks) as their own staff. As the salaries of the 
Council’s operations staff have risen so have the costs of the agency 
staff filling these roles.  The two year LGA pay award was weighted 
towards the those lower salary grades generally payable to refuse 
and street cleansing staff, where it has meant  above inflation rises,

 It has been increasingly difficult to obtain agency staff, particularly 
HGV drivers, with the result that the costs of agency staff have risen 
significantly above inflation

8.2 The tables below summarises the movement on funding and expenditure identified since 
the Council’s MTFS was last reported to members in February 2018.

 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Funding Movement - (favourable) / adverse £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Rural Delivery Grant (93) 0 0 0
Prior Year Council Tax and Business Rate Surplus (325) 0 0 0
Business Rate Income (include S31 Grant & 
contribution to Business Rate Pool) 1 (60) (126) (198)
Council Tax Income 19 (18) (53) (88)
New Homes Bonus Income 94 66 32 (7)
Contribution to Reserve (Economic Development) (190) 0 0 0
TOTAL (495) (12) (147) (292)

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Pressures and Savings  - (favourable) / adverse £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Salary Related (includes Agency costs) 331 388 441 486
Operations Related Pressures, Fuel, Vehicle Hire etc 37 37 37 37
Preventing Homelessness Grant (144) 0 0 0
Inflation 56 56 56 56
Homelessness 200 200 200 200
Green Waste & Recycling Credits Income (125) (125) (125) (125)
Interest receivable /payable (41) (51) (59) (69)
Increased revenue contribution - Replacement of 
Vehicles 44 44 44 44
Harbour / Pilotage Income 35 35 35 35
Relocation from Bridge Buildings (38) (38) (38) (38)
Reduced contribution Capital/grant from New 
Homes Bonus (66) (44) (19) 10
Other Pressures & Savings 89 35 46 90
TOTAL 378 537 618 726

Page 13



9. Revised MTFS Deficit

The pressures and savings identified since the last MTFS, and revised funding forecasts have 
impacted adversely on the projected deficit on the Council’s revenue budgets. The table below 
summarises this.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
Deficit Deficit Deficit Deficit Deficit
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

2018/19 MTFS 388 514 502 433
2019/20 MTFS 270 1,039 973 866 752
Adverse (favourable) movement (118) 525 471 433  

The Council has previously allocated monies into a Transition in Government Funding reserve to 
be used to balance its budgets whilst recurrent savings were identified. The scale of projected 
deficit means that without corrective action this reserve will be fully utilised during 2020/21  see 
table below:

Projected Utilisation of Transition in Government Funding Reserve

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance b/fwd 1,287 1,201 931
Contribution to projected 2018/19 overspend 86 **
Contribution to projected funding shortfall 270 1,039
Balance c/fwd 1,201 931 (108)

** Projected 2018/19 overspend is £271k, the 
balance of the overspend to be met from other 
reserves

10. Council Reserves

10.1 In addition to the Transition in Government funding reserve the Council holds others 
reserves, the majority of which have been assigned for Capital purposes.  The make-up of 
the Council’s reserves is as below:

£’000
Capital Reserves   9,140 ****
Transition in Government Funding Reserve   1,287
Other Earmarked Reserves   2,342
Total 12,769

*** The Council’s capital program is currently over committed by £4m as detailed in the 
separate Capital report.  The balance shown is prior to the release of funding to meet 
2018/19 Capital spend

10.2 In addition to the specific reserves held above, a sum of £1.084m is also set aside as the 
General Fund Balance, which is there to deal with unforeseen events that are not budgeted 
for due to their unpredictability e.g. loss of income due to recession and cannot be met from 
other available resources in year. The balance on the General Fund being 10.51% of the 
Council’s Annual net budget

10.3 The current level of monies held is considered appropriate in light of the existing and 
increased levels of risks associated with Torridge’s current operational activities and 
responsibilities and the sum held is periodically risk assessed taking account of any new 
and emerging risks.

Page 14



10.4 The Council utilises transfers to reserve to set aside funds for future commitments the table 
below outlines the funds to be set aside over the MTFS.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Vehicle Replacement Reserve 554 554 554 554 554
ICT replacment Reserve 80 80 80 80 80
General Contribution to Capital 203 115 57 87 156
General Contigency Reserve 70 70 70 70 70
Property Backlog Reserve 80 80 80 80 80
Community Grants Reserve 196 151 121 136 170
Other Reserves Transfers 21 (10) (0) 43 43
Total 1,204 1,041 962 1,050 1,153

11. The Funding Horizon

11.1 Fair Funding Review

11.1.1 Torridge along with 97% of all Councils signed up to the four year settlement, 2019/20 
being the last year of the four year settlement.  Central Government is currently undertaking 
a fair funding review to be implemented in 2020/21.  The methodology behind the previous 
fair funding review is over ten years old and has not been updated since the introduction of 
local business rate retention in 2013/14. The review is based upon an assessment of both 
local authorities’ relative needs and resources. In order to determine the relative needs of 
local authorities; the weighting of various factors are considered some of which are shown 
below:

 Population
 Rurality 
 Deprivation
 Responsibility, e.g. Adult Social Care, Children Services, Highways etc.

11.1.2 Allied to the determination of the relative need of local authorities, the total funding to be 
provided by Central Government will be assessed as part of the Comprehensive Spending 
Review.  In simplest terms the Fair Funding Review will determine Torridge’s share of the 
overall local authority funding pot.

11.1.3 As alluded to, the relative needs assessment was last updated in 2013/14 with the 
introduction of local business rates retention. In addition to assessing the relative needs of 
local authorities, this update reassessed the resources available to local authorities with the 
introduction to business rate retention.

11.1.4 For Torridge Council this meant that the 40% of estimated business rates it could retain 
(circa £4m) exceeded the assessment of its need, and consequently it was obliged to pay 
over to central government a tariff (circa £2m).  

11.1.5 Since the introduction of local business rates retention Torridge Council along with the 
majority of Shire Districts have enjoyed significant growth in income from business rates, 
relative to their baseline funding level. This being due to the high percentage of business 
rates retained by Shire Districts (40%) relative to their level of baseline funding, Shire 
Counties have proportionally benefited less from business rate retention due to them only 
retaining 9% of business rates and their greater levels of baseline funding.

The table below graphically shows the benefits which have accrued to Shire Districts as a 
result of local business rate retention.  

Page 15



11.1.6 From a Torridge perspective the growth in business rates income is circa £900k, the 
reassessment of local authorities’ relative need and available resources potentially puts this 
£900k growth at risk.

11.1.7 As detailed in paragraph 3.1 from recent press articles have highlighted the financial 
pressures faced by County Councils; most notably Northamptonshire County Council. 
Whilst the outcome of the fair funding review is unknown, there is a risk that resources will 
be reallocated from Shire Districts to Shire Counties. Adult Social and Children’s Services 
costs have been highlighted in several media articles as spiralling out of control.

11.1.8 The fair funding review in addition to assessing local authority relative need, also reviews 
the level of resources available to local authorities; in particular business rate income 
(Business Rate Baseline).

11.1.9 The last fair funding reset in 2013/14 projected local authority business rate baselines 
based on  the previous two financial years (2010/11 and 2011/12). The use of the latest 
data from 2011/12 meant that significant changes to some local authorities’ baselines were 
not factored in.   

The methodology for the “reset” of business rate income for the Fair Funding Review is still 
being determined. Factors still to be determined include:
 Establishing the base year(s) for assessing (Business Rate Baseline)
 Treatment of outstanding Business Rate appeals
 Treatment of bad debt provisions
 Transitional protection payments and relationship with appeals
 Future proofing for upward movement in mandatory reliefs:

o E.g. Academy Schools Relief

As was the case in 2013/14 with any review of funding there will relative winners and 
losers. To-date there is a lack of any detail from Central Government, (beyond basic 
principles), as to how any Transitional arrangements will be implemented. 

This means at this stage there is no information available as to how quickly gains or 
losses for local authorities after April 2020/21 will materialise.

It should be borne in mind that in addition to assessing the relative need of local authorities 
the fair funding review will also assess the resources available to local authorities, in 
particular Council Tax.  As stated previously central government assumptions regarding the 
resources available to local from Council Tax include the following:

Page 16



 Council Tax increase up to allowable referendum limits
 Assumed increases to Council Tax base circa 2% increase

11.2 Business Rate Retention 2020/21

11.2.1 Under the existing Business Rates Retention scheme 50% of all Business Rates are 
retained locally, the splits being:

 40% retained by Districts
 9 % retained by County
 1% retained by Fire Authority
 50% retained by Central Government

11.2.2 It is proposed that under the Business Rate Retention scheme for 2020/21 that 75% of 
business rate income will be retained locally, with Central Government retaining the 
balance of 25%.  It is not known at this juncture what the splits will be between the different 
tiers of local government.

11.2.3 For Shire Districts a reduction in their split could result in a significant reduction in the 
additional income from future gains in business rate income.

11.2.4 Quite clearly with a greater proportion of business rates being retained locally there is a 
greater exposure of local government financing to business rate volatility.

11.2.5 The latest Central Government timetable suggests that local authorities will receive 
indications of the impact of 75% Business Rate Retention by spring 2019, with final figures 
in summer 2019.

11.2.6 Under the current Business Rate Retention scheme there is a system of levies and safety 
nets to mitigate the impact of large swings in Business Rate Income.  With the levy system, 
50% of the growth in business rate income was paid over to Central Government as a levy; 
Torridge membership of the Devon Business Rate Pool and its current membership of the 
Devon Business Rate Pilot have negated the payment to Central Government of levy 
payments.

11.2.7 The safety net system protects councils from declines in funding arising from falls in 
business rate income. Safety net payments are triggered where business rate income 
declines by greater than 7.5%.   Safety net payments are not payable where local 
authorities are members of a Business Rate Pool or Pilot. There will be no levies under the 
2020/21 Business Rate Retention scheme; safety net may be in place mostly likely funded 
by a Central Government top-slice.

11.2.8 Government has indicated that the new system of 75% Business Rate Retention will not 
have levy payment, however there may be a threshold above which local authorities will 
lose business rate income growth. As there will be no levies under the new scheme there is 
no incentive for local authorities to form Business Rate Pool from 2020/21.

11.3 Business Rate Revaluation 2021/22

11.3.1 Government has announced that the next Business Rates revaluation, for the financial year 
2021/22. Business rate revaluations are designed to be both fiscally neutral at a national 
level, i.e. the sum of business rates liability nationally should not increase or decrease; and 
should also be fiscally neutral for individual local authorities.  Business Rate revaluations 
are undertaken to adjust rateable values to reflect changes in the property market. 

11.3.2 However the 2017/18 business rate revaluation saw an increase of £100k in the business 
rates collected by Torridge Council from renewable energy schemes (Wind and Solar). 

Page 17



11.3.3 Changes to business rate income from renewable energy schemes were excluded from the 
“fiscally neutral” element of the business rate revaluation.  Torridge retains 100% of all 
business rates from renewable energy, circa £800k in 2018/19 consequently there is a risk 
to Torridge’s funding if renewables energy schemes suffer a downward valuation in 
2021/22.

11.3.4 There are still unknown variables with respect to the 2021/22 Business Rate Revaluation, 
namely 
 the centralisation of business rate appeals from 2021/22
 impact of the tier splits arising from the move to 75% business rate retention in 2020/21

12. COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING REVIEW

12.1 During the spring of 2019 Central Government will undertake a Comprehensive Spending 
Review which will determine the overall funding envelope for Local Government.  It is 
envisaged that the Comprehensive Spending Review will cover the period 2020/21 – 
2023/24.

13. ROBUSTNESS OF THE BUDGET

13.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer (s151 
Officer) of a billing or major precepting authority to report to Members on the following 
matters;

 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations;
 The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves contained within the budgets.

Robustness of Estimates

13.2 The estimates have been calculated based upon the information contained within the work 
and associated papers and guidance used to forecast the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20 to 2023/24 within this report.  

13.3 The estimate of income in the 2019/20 budget arising from the Business Rates Retention 
System is considered the greatest risk in terms of its accuracy in the light of significant 
changes reported in section 5 of the report. Thereafter the impact of the following 
represents the greatest uncertainty in funding for the Council.

 Comprehensive Spending Review
 The Fair Funding Review 2020/21
 75% Business Rate Retention in 2020/21 
 Business Rate Revaluation 2021/22
 New Homes Bonus post 2019/20 

13.4 The final consideration is that this Council has a robust performance management 
framework in place with regular reports being presented to the Senior Management Team, 
Overview & Scrutiny (Internal) and Community & Resources Committees. This framework 
provides additional reassurance that budgets are proactively monitored and controlled 
throughout the financial year.

13.5 Taking all of the above into consideration, the budget which has been recommended for 
approval by Council is sufficiently robust for members to use it as a basis for approving the 
proposed Council Tax for 2019/20 and the use of financial reserves.

Page 18



14 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24

14.1 It is prudent when considering the Budget 2019/20 that Members are aware of and take 
account of the longer term impacts that decisions and assumptions today have on the 
robustness of the Council’s financial position over the medium term.  The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a method of modelling this by the application of a range of 
assumptions, estimates and sensitivity analysis to produce an overall financial picture of 
how Torridge might look in 2023/24.

14.2 It is worth noting that these are only forecasts and they will definitely change, some better 
and some worse and this is therefore a guide to enable Members to consider strategically 
how they want the Council to operate over the coming years and what resources are 
available to deliver the Council’s services and to support and  implement the Strategic Plan. 
Members should also be reminded that where assumptions have been made for items such 
as Council Tax increases these do not bind the Council to those assumptions and Members 
will determine annually whether or not to increase Council Tax.

14.2.1 In reviewing the MTFS some core assumptions have been used to base the forecasts on. 
These changes reflect actual experience and additional information or remove unsafe 
assumptions. The significant and material assumptions made in preparing the MTFS also 
reflects the risks associated with the preparation of longer term forecasts and the main 
areas included are as follows:

Council tax increase  MTFS assumes no uplift in 2019/20, there after a £5 increase per 
Band D (circa 3%)  per annum is assumed for the remainder of the MTFS.  As stated 
previously Central Government assessment of the resource available to the Council will 
assume that Council Tax will rise in line with referendum limit.

Tax Base  The MTFS assumes an increase of 285 Band D Equivalents, circa 1.2% per 
annum

Revenue Support Grant no grant payable from 2020/21 onwards

Rural Services Delivery Grant £0.477m in 2019/20, and £0.380m thereafter. 

Officer Pay will increase by 2% for the duration of the MTFS. It should be noted that 
Torridge is party to National Pay Agreements between the LGA and the relevant unions.

Universal Credit  No assumption has been made regarding the Admin Grant Torridge 
receives from  Department of Works and Pension for administrating Housing Benefit claims 
beyond 2019/20 with respect to the move towards Universal Credit. 

Rents fees and charges Assume to rise in line with inflation. This does not include car 
park charges, where no increase has been assumed over the period of the forecast. 
However this does not preclude the Council from raising car park charges. The Council can 
still decide to raise charges by more or less than is included in the forecast with a 
corresponding impact. 

Local Government Pension Scheme the last revaluation of the scheme took place during 
2016, effective from 1st April 2017, following the review the employer’s pension 
contributions have rose from 14.3% to 15.8%.  The next actuarial revaluation of the pension 
scheme will take place during 2019 and come into effect from 1st April 2020.  The MTFS 
assumes the employers pension contribution will rise to 17.3% for the duration of the 
MTFS.  

Page 19



Additionally the MTFS assumes the contribution towards the Council’s underlying pension 
deficit will rise as indicated below:
 2020/21 £110,000
 2021/22 £  20,000
 2022/23 £  20,000
 2023/24 £110,000

Business Rate Growth The MTFS forecasts additional income from the business rates 
retention.  The Council is forecast to benefit from growth in the business rates tax base at 
1.5% per annum over the life of the MTFS.  

New Homes Bonus In the absence of any clear steer from Central Government the MTFS 
assumes there will be no changes to the rules governing the allocation of funding to local 
authority. 

Fair Funding Review and 75% Business Rate Retention:  At this juncture there is 
insufficient detail available to enable the Council to make any projections as to the impact 
the Fair Funding Review and 75% Business Rate Retention 2020/21, consequently the 
MTFS make no projections pertaining to their impact.  However it should be noted that the 
impact is likely to be negative upon Torridge’s funding for the reasons listed below:

 Shire Districts such as Torridge have enjoyed funding growth from Business Rate 
Retention especially compared with Shire Counties (see 11.1).  With effect from 
2020/21 all business rate growth achieved by individual local authorities since 
2013/14 will be lost.  

 This business rate growth nationally of circa £1.5bn will be then (subject to any top 
slice by central government) be redistributed through the local authority sector 
based upon need the Fair Funding Review assessment of need and available 
resources.  Given the pressure widely reported by upper tier shire counties, it would 
be reasonable to expect some transfer of funding between the tiers of local 
government

14.3 With all these forecasts and assumptions modelled through to 2023/24, Torridge’s Budget 
is forecast to move from £10.31m in 2018/19 to £11.414m by 2023/24.  

14.4 By 2023/24 the model assumes that if no remedial action is taken then the Council will have 
a funding gap of £0.752m with its Transition in Government Funding Reserve exhausted 
during 2020/21.  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Cost of Service 9,109 9,668 9,920 10,156 10,453
Reserve Movements 1,204 1,041 962 1,050 1,153
Other (164) (175) (182) (192) (192)
Projected Revenue Budget 10,149 10,534 10,700 11,014 11,414
Government Grants 604 380 380 380 380
New Homes Bonus 1,189 1,015 897 957 1,096
Business Rates 4,274 4,164 4,345 4,534 4,730
Council Tax 3,811 3,936 4,105 4,276 4,455
Projected Funding 9,879 9,496 9,728 10,147 10,662
Contribution from Reserves to balance budgets 270 1,039 973 866 752

Area

Page 20



14.5 The MTFS is reviewed and refreshed on an annual basis to take account of new and 
emerging changes in actual income and expenditure and any revised forecasts. As the table 
above shows there is considerable further work required to bring the Council’s budget into a 
balance position over the life of the MTFS. 

15 Bridging the Funding Gap

15.1 In light of the projected funding gap of £752k at 2023/24 and with further funding challenges 
anticipated from the Fair Funding Review it would be imprudent of the Council not to take 
steps to bridge the funding gap. 

15.2 Members have three separate reports:

 Homelessness Temporary Accommodation Options 2020-21 onwards
 New Homes Bonus – Community Grants
 Council Tax – Changes to Discounts and Premiums Policy

These reports outline potential savings which if approved by members would contribute 
towards the setting of a balance budget. The Council can also bridge some of the identified 
deficit by deciding to raise Council Tax in 2019/20.

15.2.1 Increasing the Council Tax in 2019/20 by £5 for a Band D equivalent (circa 3.15%) would 
reduce the projected deficit as details below:

£’000
2019/20 119
2020/21 120
2021/22 122
2022/23 123
2023/24 128

15.2.2 Changing the Councils Tax Discounts (Empty and Unfurnished) and Premiums (long term 
empties) as detailed in the separate report would contribute to the deficit as detailed below: 
The figure below ignore the impact of any future Council Tax increases.  

Members should note that the changes to the Council Tax Discounts and Premiums were 
recommended by an Internal & Overview Scrutiny Task & finish Group. 

£’000
2019/20     35
2020/21     44
2021/22     46
2022/23     46
2023/24     46

15.2.3 In recognition of the deficit faced by the Council in 2019/20, it is proposed that the funds 
allocated from New Homes Bonus monies for Community and Member Grants are reduced 
by £115k to bring the 2019/20 budgets back into balance. The funds available for 
Community and Member Grants for 2019/20 would then be £153k.

Members should note that 2019/20 is the final year under the current New Homes Bonus 
rules.  

Page 21



15.2.4 The bridging of the 2019/20 deficit of £270k by the proposals above are detailed below:

£’000
Raise Council Tax     119
Changes to Council Tax Discounts/Premiums      69
Reduced Community & Member Grants    116 
Subtotal    270

15.2.5 The separate Homelessness Temporary Accommodation Report contains further details 
regarding the options available to mitigate the pressures the Council is facing with regards 
to temporary accommodation placements

The advantages of each are summarised below:

 Raising Council Tax in 2019/20 by the Referendum Limit (£5 Band D)
o Central Government assessment of resources available to Torridge will assume the 

Council Tax will increase
o Council Tax is the Council’s most stable form of income
o Torridge’s share of the total tax charged is relatively small so the impact of a 

Torridge increase is relatively minor to the individual tax payer
o Contributes to the deficit identified within the MTFS 

 Council Tax Discounts and Premiums
o Reducing the discount for empty and unfurnished properties from 3 months to 1 

month brings Torridge more in line with neighbouring authorities
o Raises additional Council Tax and contributes to the MTFS identified deficit
o Increasing the Council Tax charged for long term empty properties should 

incentivise owner to bring their properties back into occupation
o Raises additional revenue for Torridge’s preceptors

Risk Assessment

16 The major risks associated with the achievement of both the Budget 2019/20 and the MTFS 
is that the major assumptions and forecasts highlighted in paragraph 14.2.1 are significantly 
different to that considered to be the position now.  They are forecasts so we do expect 
them to change in both positive and negative ways and the Finance Team regularly monitor 
and update our forecast position when new information comes to light. 

Implications

Legal Implications
The Council is required to set a balanced annual budget.

Financial Implications
These are contained in the report.

Human Resources Implications
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration.

Sustainability Implications
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration.

Equality/Diversity
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration.

Risk Management

Page 22



The Council will be required to reduce net expenditure over the medium term. The MTFS (section 
14) indicates the level of reduction required and reduces the risk of not achieving a balanced 
budget or identifying savings that are not achievable.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Forms part of the strategy process.

Lead Member Views

Councillor Hurley:
Date of Consultation – 24th January 2019

“Whilst it is always difficult to recommend and justify a decision to increase the Council Tax in any 
year, it is my opinion that small yearly increases are preferable to sporadic much larger increases.  
It is now clearer than ever that in the relaxation of Government controls it is recognised that there 
is no additional money at a national level to plug the growing financial gap in providing services 
locally and the importance of Council Tax grows year on year.
 
We can see from the report that Torridge is in a relatively good financial position compared to other 
Councils across the country but we still have substantial forecast budget gaps in the future to 
address. Council Tax is one of few areas that we have control over to manage our finances and we 
must plan not just for next year, but for the future and, therefore, I support the recommendations in 
the report.
   
Conclusions

17 The report highlights the challenges faced by Torridge Council in an increasingly uncertain 
environment. Previous financial prudence has generated reserves which allow the Council 
time to bring its budgets back into balance over the course of the MTFS. .

Recommendations:

Recommend to Full Council

18 That Members note the following

a) Note the Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer) assurance of the robustness of the budget 
2019/20 set out in section 12 of the report.

b) Note the assumptions and forecast applied to develop the MTFS outlined in section 14

c) Note the forecast deficit of £0.752m in the MTFS for 2023/24

d) Note the risks associated with the Budget 2019/20 and MTFS outlined in section 16

e) Note that a Joint Internal & External Scrutiny committee will review the grants made to external 
bodies for the financial year 2020/21.

That Members approve the following

f) Torridge’s Band D Council Tax for 2019/20 be increased by £5 (3.15%) from £158.86 to 
£163.66 per year

g) The changes to Council Tax Discounts and Long Term Empty Premiums detailed in the 
separate report are approved.

h) £115k is top-sliced from the New Homes Bonus – Community Grants Allocation

i) Torridge’s Net Revenue Budget 2019/20 is £10.149m.

Page 23



j) The contributions to the Council’s reserves as outlined in paragraph 10.4 are approved.

k) That the Head of Paid Service, Senior Management and the new council review and revise the 
strategic plan & priorities and prepare options to achieve the savings going forward.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 24 January 2019

Leader - Councillor J Whittaker
Deputy Leader – Councillor D Hurley

Officers Consulted – 
Head of Paid Service
Senior Solicitor

Contact Officer: Steve Hearse  – Strategic Manager (Resources)

Background Papers:

Page 24



Page 25



REPORT OF     Customer Support Manager
To:                    Community & Resources Committee
Subject:            Proposed Changes to Council Tax Legislation – Long Term Empty Properties
                          & Review Current Council Tax Local Discount Policy

Date:                 04 February 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:   To review the changes to Council Tax legislation for Long Term Empty 
Properties and the existing Torridge District Council, Council Tax Local Discount Policy for 
properties that are Unoccupied and Unfurnished or Undergoing Major Structural alterations or 
Uninhabitable to enable any changes to be agreed by 31 March 2019.  

1. INTRODUCTION

With effect 1st April 2013 the Government introduced legislation that gave discretionary power to all 
Local Authorities to set their own levels of discount in respect properties that are Unoccupied and 
Substantially Unfurnished, Undergoing Major Repairs and Second Homes, it also gave Local 
Authorities powers to set an ‘empty homes premium’ (up to 150% charge) for properties that are 
unoccupied and Substantially Unfurnished for over 2 years.

On the 19th November 2012 the Community and Resources Committee agreed the Torridge District 
Council Local Discount Policy (April 2013) which allowed the following discounts:

 Unoccupied and Unfurnished properties – 100% discount for up to 3 months followed by a 
100% charge.

 Unoccupied and Unfurnished and Undergoing Major Structural Alterations/Repair Works – 
100% discount for up to 12 months, unless the works are completed sooner followed by a 100% 
charge.

 Second Home – no discount applicable.

The Council also commenced charging the 50% premium on properties that have been Unoccupied 
and Unfurnished for more than 2 years.

The ‘Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’ was given 
Royal Assent on 1st November 2018.

This new legislation gives Local Authorities powers to charge higher amounts for long-term empty 
properties as follows:

 For the financial year from 1st April 2019 the maximum additional premium is 100%
 For the financial year from 1st April 2020 the maximum additional premium is:

a)  Any property that has been empty between 2 and 5 years 100%
b) Any property that has been empty for over 5 years  200%

 For the financial year from 1st April 2021 the maximum additional premium is:
a)  Any property that has been empty between 2 and 5 years 100%
b)  Any property that has been empty between 5 and 10 years  200%
c) Any property that has been empty for over 10 years 300%

Page 26

Agenda Item 7a



Now is an opportune time to also review the existing discounts and to understand the potential affect of 
adopting the proposed changes in legislation to long term empty properties. 

At a meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny (Internal) held on 6 November 2018 it was agreed to set up a 
working group to review the implications of applying the new premiums and any reduction to the 
existing discounts.

The working group met on 21 November 2018 and was chaired by Councillor Watson and included 
Councillors Langmead and Tony Inch who were supported by the Council Tax Team Leader and 
Customer Support Manager. 

2. REPORT

Council Tax is one of the Council’s principle income streams at a time when government grants are 
being reduced.  The ‘financial implications’ indicate the potential increased revenue if the 
Unoccupied and Unfurnished and Major Structural Alterations Discounts are reduced and if the 
maximum premiums are applied following the new legislation under the ‘Rating (Property in 
Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’

By implementing these changes it will encourage home owners to occupy/bring their empty 
properties back into use more quickly. 

The table below confirms  what other Devon Council’s currently allow for Unoccupied and Unfurnished 
and Major Structural Alterations properties and what their intentions are regarding The ‘Rating 
(Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’.

Torridge NDDC East Devon West 
Devon

Plymouth Teign-
bridge

Unoccupied 
and 
Unfurnished

3 months 
100%

discount

3 months 
100% 

discount

3 months
100% 

discount

1 month
100% 

discount

1 month
100% 

discount

1 month
100%

discount
Structural 
Alterations

12 month
100%

discount

0 discount 12 months 
50% 

discount

12 months 
50% 

discount

12 months 
50% 

discount

12 months 
50%

Discount
Currently 
reviewing

Intended 
Change to 
Premiums

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

Maximum 
premiums to 
be applied

 

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The Council has discretionary powers to set levels of discount for properties that are Unoccupied and 
Substantially Unfurnished or Undergoing Major Structural Alterations.  The discounts can be applied 
between 0 and 100%.

The ‘Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’ gives Local 
Authorities the discretionary powers to charge the increased premiums for long term empty properties.

Page 27



Any changes would need to be agreed by Council and advertised with the 2019/20 Council Tax 
Resolution by way of public notice. The Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy would need to be 
updated in line with any changes agreed.

Financial Implications

Unoccupied and Unfurnished and Structual Alterations Discount

The working group are proposing the following changes:

o The reduction for unoccupied and unfurnished properties discount from 3 months to 1 month.
o Properties undergoing structural alterations from 12 months  to 6 months from 1st April 2019
            and no discount from 1st April 2020.

At a meeting of Overview & Scrutiny (Internal) held on 18 December 2018 Members endorsed the 
recommendations in this report and requested they be included in the budget report to Full Council on 
25 February 2019.

The following tables indicate the potential increase in revenue that could be realised if the discount 
period is reduced based on the discounts allowed in the financial year 2017/2018.

Unoccupied
& 

Unfurnished

Number
Of

Accounts

Current 
discount
3 months

1 month
discount

Discount 
Totals

3,307 £536,142 £283,330

Increased 
Revenue 0 £252,812

 

Structural 
Alteration

Number 
of 

Accounts

Current 
discount

12 months

6 months
Discount

2019

0 
Discount

2020
Discount 
Totals

257 £150,612 £75,306

Increased 
Revenue

0
£75,306 £150,612

The ‘Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill 

Using the baseline number of properties (70) as at 18 October 2018  that are already paying the 50% 
premium, the following  table indicate the  additional revenue that will be generated:

 

Page 28



Long Term Empty Properties as at 18.10.2018 - Calculations Based on 2018/19 Banding 
Charges for Bideford Parish 

       
Property 

Band
Empty 2-5 

years
Band 

Charge 50% premium 100% 2019
still 100% 

2020
still 100% 

2021
A 20 £1,228.15 £36,844.50 £49,126.00 £49,126.00 £49,126.00
B 10 £1,432.84 £21,492.60 £28,656.80 £28,656.80 £28,656.80
C 8 £1,637.53 £19,650.36 £26,200.48 £26,200.48 £26,200.48
D 7 £1,842.22 £19,343.31 £25,791.08 £25,791.08 £25,791.08
E 3 £2,251.60 £10,132.20 £13,509.60 £13,509.60 £13,509.60
F 1 £2,660.99 £3,991.49 £5,321.98 £5,321.98 £5,321.98
 49  £111,454.46 £148,605.94 £148,605.94 £148,605.94
       

 
Empty 5 

years
Band 

Charge 50% premium 100% 2019 200% 2020
still 200% 

2021
A 2 £1,228.15 £3,684.45 £4,912.60 £7,368.90 7,368.90
B 5 £1,432.84 £10,746.30 £14,328.40 £21,492.60 21,492.60
C 2 £1,637.53 £4,912.59 £6,550.12 £9,825.18 9,825.18
D 2 £1,842.22 £5,526.66 £7,368.88 £11,053.32 11,053.32
E 2 £2,251.60 £6,754.80 £9,006.40 £13,509.60 13,509.60
 13  £31,624.80 £42,166.40 £63,249.60 63,249.60
       

 
Empty 10 

years
Band 

Charge 50% premium 100% 2019 200% 2020 300% 2021
A 1 £1,228.15 £1,842.23 £2,456.30 £3,684.45 4,912.60
B 3 £1,432.84 £6,447.78 £8,597.04 £12,895.56 17,194.08
C 1 £1,637.53 £2,456.30 £3,275.06 £4,912.59 6,550.12
D 1 £1,842.22 £2,763.33 £3,684.44 £5,526.66 7,368.88
E 2 £2,251.60 £6,754.80 £9,006.40 £13,509.60 18,012.80
 8  £20,264.44 £27,019.24 £40,528.86 54,038.48
       

  
Current 
charge 2019 2020 2021

  Totals £163,343.70 £217,791.58 £252,384.40 £265,894.02
       

  Net additional revenue £54,448 £89,041 £102,550

Summary of Working Group proposals

1. Adopt maximum premiums for long term empty properties.
2. Reduce 100% 3 month discount for unoccupied & substantially unfurnished properties to a 

maximum of 1 month from 1st April 2019.
3. Reduce the 100% 12 month discount for properties undergoing major structural alterations as 

follows:
- 1st April 2019 – 100% discount for 6 months maximum 
- 1st April 2020 -  0% discount

 

Page 29



Combined impact of all proposed changes

 
E&U 1 
month

Structural 
Alterations Premiums Totals £

Torridge 
Share 
9% (£)

2019 252,812 75,306 54,448 382,566 34,431
2020 252,812 150,612 89,041 492,465 44,322
2021 252,812 150,612 102,550 505,974 45,538
Total 758,436 376,530 246,039 1,381,005 124,290

The Customer Support Manager is currently in negotiations with Devon County Council regarding the 
potential to allow TDC to retain a higher percentage of the income generated from the changes.

Human Resources Implications
The Revenues Team have 1.5 Visiting Officers that inspect unoccupied and unfurnished properties and 
properties undergoing major structural alterations, the proposed reduction in discount for 2019 would 
not affect their role as there would still be a requirement to inspect the properties to confirm the 
discount is applicable.  

From 2020 there may be reduced visits due to the structural alterations discount being removed. 
However, there would still be a necessity to periodically review unoccupied and unfurnished properties 
to ensure our empty property records are correctly indicated and updated when properties become 
occupied/furnished.  

There may be a requirement for more visits to properties that are indicated as long term empty to verify 
claims from owners/liable person that the property has become furnished/occupied and ensure the 
premium charges are removed correctly.  

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
By reducing discount available for unoccupied properties and applying the maximum premiums for long 
term empty properties it will encourage owners/liable persons to bring properties back into use, which 
could assist with the local housing needs.

Equality/Diversity
By amending our policy and providing clear definitions for Empty Properties and Premiums for long 
term empty properties, all property/liable owners/persons will be treated equally.

Risk Management
Owners attempting to avoid the Long Term Empty Premiums may claim their properties are furnished.  
By having a clear definition in the Policy of what constitutes a furnished property and a Visiting Officer 
inspecting the property to confirm if the property is considered furnished or substantially unfurnished 
will reduce this risk.

For reference, the Department of Communities and Local Government advice for definitions for the 
purposes of administering both discounts and premiums is:

1.  A property which is substantially unfurnished is unlikely to be occupied or be capable of 
occupation. A property which is capable of occupation can reasonably be expected to contain some, if 
not all, items from both of the following categories: furniture such as bed, chairs, table, wardrobe or 
sofa, and white goods such as fridge, freezer or cooker.
2. Where a property is said to be occupied it will be reasonable for the local authority to

Page 30



cross-check with the electoral roll , or ask for evidence, such as utility bills showing usage of services, 
driving licence as proof of address, or receipts or other proof of moving costs.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

If Members agree to make changes then the existing policy will need to be updated to reflect this.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

Only data that is necessary for the performance of the service is collected; data is held securely and 
can only be accessed by officers who have a legitimate need to view/use it.

Data will be kept for as long as is necessary but no longer than six years plus the current year.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

Councillor David Hurley (Lead Member Customer Support) 24 January 2019

Since reviewing the latest budget report, and the present and future position of Torridge District 
Council’s finances, it is depressingly clear that the intent of the Government is to make Councils 
become evermore self sufficient.  Withdrawal of Government funding and expecting Councils to make 
up the deficit by increasing Council Tax is one method.  By following the recommendations in this 
report we would hopefully see more properties back on the market in a habitable state whilst increasing 
the revenue achieved from properties that landlords/owners had long since ceased to provide payment 
for.  In addition this action would see Torridge fall into line with what is a normal activity by Councils 
across the Country

3. CONCLUSIONS

This is an ideal opportunity to review the Council’s empty property Council Tax Local Discounts Policy 
and the new legislation regarding Long Term Empty Premiums.

This report indicates the potential increased revenue that could be generated by reducing the discounts 
available and adopting the new premiums under the ‘Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and 
Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’.  

Applying the new premiums to long term empty properties and reducing the empty property discounts 
would also encourage owners/liable persons to occupy/bring empty properties back into use.

The Working Group have agreed to recommend reducing the discounts available for empty properties , 
which would result in potential increased income for the Council and would also still allow the property 
owners/liable persons some relief when their property becomes unoccupied and unfurnished:

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

i) The ‘Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Bill’ is
            adopted and the premiums are applied from 1st April 2019;

ii) Reduce 100% 3 month discount for unoccupied & substantially unfurnished properties to a 
            maximum of 1 month from 1st April 2019.

Page 31



iii) Reduce the 100% 12 month discount for properties undergoing major structural alterations as
            follows:

o  April 2019 – 100% discount for 6 months maximum 
o  1st April 2020 -  0% discount

iv) Agree to a new Local Council Tax discount and premium policy that reflects any changes made.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation:
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Background Papers:

Page 32



REPORT OF Strategic Manager (Resources)
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: New Homes Bonus – Community Grants
Date: February 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:   
To determine how the New Homes Bonus funding is to be utilised in its fourth year of operation.

1. INTRODUCTION

The New Homes Bonus Scheme will be entering its fourth year from April 1, 2019.   In year three of 
the scheme there was £265,919.00 available for local organisations and groups to apply for.  

There was also an additional £72,000 set aside for the personal Councillor Grants who each 
received £2,000 to allocate at their discretion. 

2. REPORT

The latest budget forecast predicts that the funding available within the scheme for year four is to be 
circa £196,000 plus the £72,000 for Members should the formula for allocating NHB resources 
continue in its current format.

Should the scheme continue in a similar manner to as it does now, all applications will follow the 
same process as they did in year three with applications requiring sign off by the appropriate Ward 
Member(s) prior to submission and thereafter they will be scored by officers, the Head of Paid 
Services and the Leader of the Council against set criteria that has been pre-agreed by Members.  

The Council however is facing overriding budgetary constraints and it needs to be decided as to 
how the New Homes Bonus allocation is utilised as part of the wider context of the Authority’s 
overall budgeting for its fourth year allocation.  There are several points to consider when making 
these decisions. 
 

 In year three it was agreed that a limit of £10,000 in total be set as the amount that any one 
organisation could apply for and this was also the case for Parish and Town Councils.

 There is once again a large reduction in the amount of funding that is available. 
  A number of Parish Councils in year three had multiple projects that they wished to 

undertake but could not re-apply.
 The Councillors “personal” grants were increased from £1,000 in year 2 up to £2,000 in year 

3.

Members should be aware that 2019/20 is the last confirmed year of New Homes Bonus Funding. 
At a national level the New Homes Bonus scheme costs Central Government circa £900m. The Fair 
Funding Review 2020/21 will rebase local authority funding based upon an assessment of local 
authority need.

At this juncture it is not known if the current New Homes Bonus Scheme will continue in its current 
guise beyond 2019/20 or if the £900m allocated to the New Homes Bonus Scheme is reallocated to 
local authorities by some other methodology.

Page 33

Agenda Item 7b



The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 – 2023/24 is currently projecting an 
annual deficit of £700k by 2023/24, before any assessment of the impact of Fair Funding Review 
2020/21
 
It is not possible at this juncture to quantify the impact of the Fair Funding Review 2020/21 on 
Torridge finances. However Shire Districts like Torridge have benefited significantly from the 
introduction of Business Rate Retention compared with their Shire County colleagues.  
Consequently it would be prudent to assume there could be some reallocation of resource away 
from shire districts.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

A grant agreement will be drafted and signed for each application to ensure the secure allocation of 
the money for the intentions proposed.

Financial Implications

 In year four there would be £268,000 available for the New Homes Bonus scheme and 
“personal” Councillor grants based on the current formula to share NHB resources..  

 A grant agreement will be drafted and signed for each application to ensure the secure 
allocation of the money for the intentions proposed. 

 Where applications have scored satisfactorily but have yet to amass the total funding 
required for their project, a letter of financial commitment will be provided and the funds then 
paid upon evidence of the shortfall being met. 

 The availability of New Homes Bonus funding beyond 2019/20 is unknown

Human Resources Implications
Not applicable.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Council funds used to support community projects that will leave a legacy for the future.

Equality/Diversity
All applications are independently scored and assessed against set criteria.

Risk Management
Applications are endorsed by Ward Members and scored independently by three different parties. 

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The scheme complies with the Community Grant Fund criteria that were adopted by Members.

Page 34



Leaders Views

I am obviously delighted that there will be the opportunity for what has been an invaluable funding 
Scheme for local Projects and Parish Council’s to continue. However,  some careful consideration is 
needed  I feel  to ensure that in what will probably be the last year this Council is able to deliver the 
scheme. It’s  essential I feel that the very best is made of the opportunities the Scheme will  be able 
to provide. Members will have a  choice about several aspects of how the Scheme will be delivered 
during the 2019/20 year.  

4. CONCLUSIONS

 There is considerably less funding available in year four than there was in the previous years 
and the Authority is facing further financial constraints elsewhere.

 It’s possible that the available funds could be utilised in a different way to the previous three 
years of the scheme, both as a scheme itself but also in the wider context of the Authority’s 
budgetary requirements.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

 The statutory S151 officer recommends that members note the uncertainty over future New 
Homes Bonus Funding beyond 2019/20. The allocation of Community and Member grant 
funding for 2019/20 should take into account the Council’s financial position contained in the  
Budget 2019/20, MTFS 2019/20 to 2023/24 Report also on the agenda for the meeting.  The 
recommendation in that report is that £115,000 is required in 2019/20 from the New Homes 
Bonus – Community Grants allocation to balance the Revenue Budget 2019/20 (subject to 
other decisions on Council Tax).

For 2019/20 that Members determine whether to
 

 Use all of the £268,000 for the New Homes Bonus scheme and Councillor grants
 Allocate the funds to invest in either the Authorities capital programme or contribute towards 

the Council’s funding deficit i.e. reduce the sum allocated to £153,000 in order to balance the 
Council’s Revenue Budget 2019-20.  Therefore reducing the pot to £72,000 Member Grants 
and £81,000 Community Grants.

If it is agreed that the New Homes Bonus is allocated funds it is recommended that:

 Town and Parish Councils are able to re-apply for applications for differing projects.
 That the maximum grant allocated to any organisation (or accumulation of grants) is reduced 

to £5,000.
 Members determine whether the personal Councillor grants remain at £2,000; are reduced 

back to £1,000 or that they are scrapped completely in order to increase the level of 
resources available fro Community Grants

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –  

Officers Consulted – Jenny Wallace, Steve Hearse,                           
Sean Kearney, Staci Dorey

                                                           
                                  
Members Consulted –Cllr J.Whittaker.

Page 35



Contact Officer: James Jarroudi
  

Page 36



REPORT OF Customer Support Manager
To: Community & Resources
Subject Homelessness (Temporary Accommodation)
Date: 04 February 2019 Reference:

Confidential or Exempt Information - Not for Publication by virtue of Paragraph              of Part 1 
and Paragraph               of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    To identify long term cost effective solutions that help to mitigate the 
cost of temporary accommodation (Homelessness)

1. INTRODUCTION
The Council has a statutory duty to assist those customers who present as homeless or are 
threatened with homelessness, this can lead to the requirement to provide them with temporary 
accommodation.

To meet the needs of the service the Council has historically used a number of options to 
provide temporary accommodations this includes:

 Provision of two hostels (Bideford & Torrington) with a total of 11 
rooms.

 Use of B&B accommodation from a range of suppliers.
 Private Sector Lease (PSL) where the Council has leased properties from the private 

sector.

In April 2018 new legislation was introduced in the form of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 
which now requires Councils to assist those customers who are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness for up to 56 days when previously it was 28 days. This change combined with 
the ongoing impact of welfare reform and a lack or affordable* rental properties within the 
private sector and the general deprivation experienced across Torridge has placed significant 
resource and financial pressure on the Council. Torridge was ranked as the 67 most deprived 
area in 2015 out of 326 local authorities.

*affordable – within the Local Housing Allowance rate.

LHA rates are set by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and cover geographical 
areas, Torridge falls within `North Devon`. There has been no increase in these rates since 
2015. The following screen shot show the existing rates for North Devon, Exeter and North 
Cornwall. The Exeter rates are on average 20% higher than the North Devon rate as this is 
supposed to reflect the higher rental cost of property in Exeter.

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



The following table shows the average monthly cost of private rented accommodation within 
Bideford compared to the LHA rate.

No. Bedrooms Monthly Rental Cost
(£)

Monthly LHA rate 
(£)

Cost differential
(shortfall) per month (£)

1 450 399 51
2 590 498 92
3 730 598 132
4 830 729 101
5 1400* 729 671

*Only one 5 bedroom property was listed within Bideford as of 23 Jan 2019

2. REPORT
Demand to place customers in temporary accommodation (TA) has been increasing since 2016 
but the greatest demand has been this financial year to date as shown in the following table. 
This has necessitated the greater use of B&B accommodation which is also subject to seasonal 
demand and cost variations all of which have culminated in significant additional costs to the 
Council.

No of households 
placed in TA

Total no of days 
in TA

62
Singles Couples/Families

2016/2017

25 37

4,561

92
Singles Couples/Families

2017/2018

47 45

6,893*

96
Singles Couples/Families

2018/2019
Partial Year

Apr - Oct
54 42

3,750

165
Singles Couples/Families

2018/2019
(Full year 

projection) 86 79

6,428

Page 38



The 2017/18 the total days spiked as result of having an extremely large family in TA.

In an attempt to mitigate the increasing costs of meeting the Councils statutory responsibilities 
officers continue to explore alternative, sustainable and cost effective long term options for the 
delivery of temporary accommodation. The following table details the options considered along 
with the associated costs, benefits and risks.

Cost Benefits Risk
Existing (B&B, 
Hostel & PSL) 
2018/19

B&B
Average cost of B&B per 
week is  £404 (we can 
only claim £92.05 per 
week)

2018/19 forecast based on 
number of nights required

6428 nights @ £57.65 = 
£370,574
Claimed = £84,528.

Net  cost = £286,046

PSL’s
Average cost (each) of 5 
PSL’s per month £604 + 
maintenance of £161 per 
month

Average monthly rental 
income of £536 per 
property.

Annual cost £36,240
Rental income £32,169

Net cost £4,071

                     LHA
1 bed £435  (£399)
2 bed £579  (£498)
3 bed £721  (£598)

Hostels
Average annual operating 
costs of both hostels (11 
rooms) £100,812 + 
maintenance of £15,356

Average income of 
£154,679

B&B is flexible.

No capital or revenue 
(maintenance) 
expenditure on 
leased/owned 
properties.

Limited B&B 
market that will 
accept our 
customers 
coupled with 
seasonal 
demand and 
price variations.

Existing Hostel 
provision has 
shared facilities 
which require 
refurbishment 
and are far from 
suitable for 
families with 
children.

Page 39



Net cost £38,511 (surplus)
Modular 
Accommodation

Based on a mix of 5 units.

Purchase cost £108,308
Site prep £10,000
Connection to utilities 
£25,000

Annual operating costs 
£22,265
Depreciation £14,330 (10 
years)

Rental income £27,040

Net cost (operating) 
£9,555

Cost effective.

Easy to manage.

Fit for purpose.

Robust.

Low maintenance 
cost.

Flexible.

Easily re-locatable

The identification 
of a site(s) that is 
deliverable from 
an operational 
and political 
perspective.

The potential to 
create anti social 
behaviour or 
other 
neighbourhood 
issues via the 
concentration of 
units.

Property 
purchase

Based on a mix of 5 
properties.

Purchase £771,569 +
Annual Interest on 
borrowings £23,147 +
MRP £30,862 +

Annual maintenance 
£38,578 (5% of purchase 
cost)

Annual rental £27,040

Net cost (operating) 
£65,547

Easy to mange.

Flexible.

Long term asset

Need to borrow 
money to 
purchase (long 
term revenue 
cost)

Maintenance & 
management 
costs

Build/ provide 
additional 
hostels bed 
space.(conversi
on of Bridge 
Buildings)

Member have previously 
been provided with costs 
to convert Bridge buildings 
to residential apartments 
(Full Council May 2018)

The requirements for a 
hostel are different to 
residential self contained 
apartments and for the 
purpose of this high level 
options report we estimate 
a 50% saving on those 
original costs meaning a 
conversion to a hostel will 
be circa £400,000 (min of 
12 bed spaces)

Operating expenditure and 

We already own the 
building.

Demand for bed 
space.

Conversion 
costs.

On going 
maintenance 
(listed building)

Will need to be 
carefully 
managed given 
prominent 
position within 
town.

Unable to utilise 
ground floor 
(flood risk)

Page 40



income generated are 
subject to the number of 
rooms/bed spaces 
achieved but estimated at.

Annual operating cost 
£151,937

Annual income £154,679

Net cost £2,742 (surplus)
Lease additional 
properties 
(PSL’s)

Based on 5 additional 
properties.

Average monthly rental 
cost (each) £788 + 
maintenance of £98

Average month rental 
income of £550 per 
property.

Annual cost £47,280

Annual rental £33,000

Net cost £14,280

Flexible

Fixed cost

Guaranteed income 
for landlord.

Strong rental 
market meaning 
the Council may 
have to subsidise 
rents eg 
difference 
between what 
can be claimed 
and the month 
rental cost.

Not all landlords 
will allow/want 
their property to 
be used by 
Homeless 
persons.

Council is liable 
for damage and 
maintenance of 
property.

Reduce 
Homelessness

Employ additional 
officer(s) with a focus on 
prevention.

Assumption that a post 
would paid at scale E9 
£25,239 this equates to 
567 nights of B&B 
accommodation

Preventing 
homelessness is a 
much better use of 
resource and 
reduces the impact 
on the individuals 
concerned and the 
Council.

It is not possible 
to prevent all 
homelessness.

Page 41



3. Summary of options outlined above

3.1 It is important to understand how the increased homelessness demand impacts upon 
the Council’s finances.  The cost of B&B placements varies depending upon seasonal 
factors but averages out approximately at £404 per week; the Council can only recover 
£92.05 per week from Housing Benefit subsidy (£44.56 per night).  The current average 
for length of stays in B&B accommodation is 32.43 days.

The table below summarises the options above and incorporates the projected saving 
that would accrue by reducing the volume of B&B placements.  It calculates the B&B 
placement which would be prevented and thus costs saved for the Council for each 
property based option detailed earlier in the report.

Average Length of Stay Days (LoS) in B&B 32.43 A
Average cost to the Council for one night's B&B £44.56 B

C D E 
F= 365 
/ E x C

G = A x B x 
F H = G + D

Housing Options Number of Units
Net Operating 

Costs

Estimated 
Length of Stay  

in Days

Number 
of 

Placeme
nt per 
year

B&B Saving
Net (Saving) / 

Cost

Modular Accomadation 12 £22,932.00 90 49 (£70,334.03) (£47,402.03)
Hostel - Bridge Buildings 12 (£2,742.00) 61 72 (£103,771.52) (£106,513.52)
Investment in Homelessness Prevention
Additional - PSL Properties 5 £14,280.00 180 10 (£14,652.92) (£372.92)
Purchase of Properties 5 £65,547.00 180 10 (£14,652.92) £50,894.08

The net operating costs include all premises related costs such as loan and interest 
payments, utilities, maintenance costs and an allowance for officer support (Caretaker, 
Estates Management etc). As the table above shows the Hostel option provides the 
greatest financial benefit to the Council and potentially diverts circa 2,300 nights of B&B 
accommodation.  The Council is currently purchasing approximately 6,428 nights B&B 
accommodation per annum.

Whilst Bridge Buildings has the added advantage that it is already in the Council’s 
ownership  the table above does not reflect “the opportunity cost” of utilising the building 
in this way i.e. it is an asset and Members have a variety of alternate aspirations for the 
property and the capital receipt it could generate if it were sold.  Therefore in true 
comparative analysis there would be reflected a cost despite it being in TDCs 
ownership.

The Property and Procurement Manager is also currently searching for alternative 
property that might be more easily converted into a hostel. 
With respect to the employment of a dedicated officer focussed on prevention, circa 17 
placements within B&B accommodation would have to be diverted to recover the cost of 
the officer; assuming the current average length of stay in B&B (32.43 days) and nightly 
cost to Torridge Council of £44.56.  

Due to pressures within the Housing Options Team a three month temporary contractor 
has been engaged since 26 November 2018 to focus purely on preventing 
homelessness and is being used to triage those customers presenting themselves to the 

Page 42



Council. Two months into the contractor’s three month engagement with the Council 18 
clients have been prevented from going into temporary accommodation. Extrapolating 
for a full year this would equate to a Gross saving of £156,068, after taking into account 
the cost of employing a Prevention Officer at £25,239 per annum, giving a net saving of 
£130,829.

4. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
The Council has a statutory duty to provide homelessness services.

Financial Implications
All of the alternative delivery options considered in this report have financial implications that 
need to be fully scoped before any informed decision can be made.

Human Resources Implications
The procurement of additional properties irrespective of purchase or lease will require additional 
management support from both the Housing, Legal and property teams.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The provision of B&B accommodation and the associated cost based on the increased demand 
is not sustainable.

Equality/Diversity
Persons presenting as homelessness are treated equally with respect and without prejudice 
irrespective of their background.

Risk Management
The District Council Network has recently produced a report which shows that the majority if not 
all Councils are experiencing increased demand for homelessness services. (Figure 1)

Page 43



The ongoing reliance on the use of B&B as our primary default position is a high risk strategy 
due to both the lack of availability and high cost particularly during peak season. Therefore to 
mitigate this, alternative sustainable solutions need to be considered.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Homeless is managed in accordance with the provisions of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
Only data that is necessary to provide the service is collected and securely stored electronically. 
Data is sometimes shared with organisations due to the complex and multi service needs that 
some customers require. Privacy notices and data sharing agreements are in place to support 
this.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Councillor Catherin Simmons (Lead Member Housing) 

4. CONCLUSIONS
There have been a number of external factors that have contributed to the increasing demand 
for services; these include new legislation, welfare reform, complex needs of customers, the 
availability of temporary accommodation and what we are able to claim in subsidy.

Page 44



It is clear that the existing service solution which is heavily reliant on B&B accommodation is not 
financially sustainable and as such alternative more cost effective solutions need to be 
considered. It is against this background that this report has set out a number of alternative 
options for Members consideration.  

5. RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that Members

i) Note the continued financial pressure and unsustainability on the Homelessness Service
ii) Determine which options are preferred for officers to progress and undertake further 

work / options appraisals.
iii) Note that if plans proceed with the Modular Accommodation option suitable location(s) 

will be required.
iv) Officers are tasked with identifying suitable property that could be used to create 

additional hostel accommodation.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Background Papers:

Page 45



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Strategic Manager (Resources)

To: Full Council

Subject: Capital Programme  2019/20 – 2025/26 

Date: 25th February 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: For Members to update the Capital Programme, for New PIDs and 
inflationary pressures, considering the recommendations from the Capital Member Event 
that was held on 29th November 2018.

1. Introduction

1.1. The Capital Programme is an ongoing forecast of capital investment in Torridge and 
the resources that are available to fund these plans.

1.2. This report sets out the challenges facing the council to ensure the capital 
programme is fully funded going forward. These are:

 Inflation – Build cost / Tender Price inflation of existing capital projects.
 New PID’s – To maintain & improve the councils existing infrastructure
 Funding Shortfall – Due to Inflation and additional PIDs, but also arising from 

any future changes to capital funding such as the “New Homes Bonus”.

2. Capital Programme Overview

2.1. Torridge’s Capital Programme is an ongoing forecast of the resources the Council is 
planning to invest in its assets and future development opportunities and whilst 
projects are allocated to specific years by nature projects quite often span financial 
years and resources follow.

2.2. The existing approved Capital Programme includes planned investment of £23.2m 
over the period 2018/19 to 2022/23 (5years). 

2.3. The revised Capital Programme (See 3 below) has been updated for inflation, which 
has arisen from projects being postponed to future years. This update has also been 
prepared over 7 years rather than the previous 5, to include the funding of the next 
round of refuse vehicles in 2025/26. This has increased the Capital Programme to 
£27.8m.

2.4. All capital projects proposed for inclusion in the Council’s Capital Programme must 
be supported by a Project Initiation Document (PiD).  The PiD will outline in sufficient 
detail what the project entails, the costs and benefits it is expected to achieve with 
particular reference to how it will contribute to Torridge’s Strategic Plan and the plans 
for implementation. (See 4 below – for recommended new PIDs)

2.5. After the Capital Programme has been updated with the new PIDs, this increases the 
Capital Programme to £28.8m. Total funding (current and expected in the future) is 
£24.6m. This gives a shortfall (funding gap) of £4.2m. 

2.6. The Member event on 29th November 2018 considered the funding gap and gave 
recommendations of how this could be closed (see 5 below)

Page 46

Agenda Item 9



3. Revised Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2025/26 (7 Years)

3.1. Capital Programme extended to 2025/26 to include next refuse fleet cycle, and 
updated for build cost / tender price inflation:

Project Type

Approved 
18/19 to 
22/23 (5 

yrs)

Extend 
to 25/26

Inflation 
/ Adj

18/19 
Spend
to date 

Cap Prog 
19/20 to 
25/26 (7 

yrs)
Car Park Refurbishment Program CarPs 214 - 10 - 223 
Wilkey Field Car Park CarPs 204 - 453 4 653 
Honestone St Car Park CarPs 85 - 4 - 89 
Rugby Ground Car Park CarPs 50 - 2 - 52 
West Appeldore Car Park CarPs 30 - 1 - 31 
Depot provision Depot 4,623 - 847 19 5,451 
Disabled Facilities Grant DFG 2,624 266 - 595 2,295 
Affordable Housing Hous 308 - - 50 258 
Decent Homes Funding Hous 128 - - 1 127 
Linear Defence - Westward Ho! Enviro 451 - - - 451 
Northam Burrows Estuary Works Enviro 120 - 37 - 157 
Torridge Cemetery Extension Enviro 105 - 39 - 144 
Torridge Bowling Club Wall Enviro 40 - 6 - 46 
Gypsy & Traveller Site Provision Infra 613 - - - 613 
Capital Improvement Program Infra 289 - 114 212 191 
Torridge Pool Boilers Infra 145 - (65) 44 36 
Victoria Park Paths & Services Infra 100 - - - 100 
Cattle Market Demolition Infra 78 - 49 47 80 
Barton Hse Hostel Re-modelling Infra 77 - - - 77 
Bideford Skate Park Infra 50 - 77 10 117 
Westward Ho Seawall Infra 50 - - - 50 
Caddsdown Telephony Infra 20 - 3 - 23 
Church View Weare Giffard infra 15 - 1 - 16 
Northam Burrows Gabions Infra 12 - - - 12 
Lighting upgrade to LED Infra 12 - 5 16 0 
IT Replacement IT 269 400 - 102 568 
Capital Digitilsation IT 100 - - 1 99 
Folder/Inserter Equipment IT 6 - - 6 - 
Holsworthy Agri Business Regen 2,600 - 657 - 3,257 
Caddsdown Phase 3 Land & Servicing Regen 2,350 - 764 - 3,114 
Burrows Centre Regen 1,735 - 413 7 2,140 
Caddsdown Phase 2 Plot 3 Regen 817 - 293 8 1,102 
Holsworthy Agri Phase 2 Commerical Land Regen 47 - - (0) 47 
Westward Ho! - Seafront improvements Regen 46 - - 2 44 
Westward Ho! - Development Sites Regen 40 - - 22 18 
Bucks Mill Lime Kiln Regen 31 - - - 31 
Cleave Wood Regen 1 - - 3 (2)
Torridge Transformation TT 455 - (8) 446 - 
Vehicle Replacement Program V&P 2,634 4,044 - 1,629 5,049 
Strategic Property Reserve Strategic 1,500  (175) 224 1,102 
 Other projects – now ended  119  (119)  - 

23,192 4,710 3,407 3,446 27,863 

Page 47



3.2. Sources of Funding:

The levels of financing available to meet capital investment has also been reviewed 
including forecast sales of council assets (capital receipts), external grant 
contributions and sums allocated from the receipt of new homes bonus.  The total 
level of financing forecast over the period 2018/19 to 2025/26 is currently estimated 
to be £24.6m (including prudential borrowing linked to the proposed acquisition and 
development of a waste and recycling depot), which is £3.3m below  the total 
amount of investment currently proposed for inclusion in the Capital Programme.  
The table below summarises the various projected sources of Capital Financing

Capital Programme 18/19 to 25/26
Inflation 
Adjusted 
Program

Existing Capital Resources  
Capital Investment Reserve 5,084 
IT Equipment Reserve 129 
Vehicle Replacement Reserve - 
Future Service Development Reserve (Waste Review) - 
Economic Regeneration Reserve 1,077 
Capital Receipts - 
Disabled Facilities Grant 295 
Coastal Communities Grant 144 
Subtotal 6,729 

Forecast Capital Funding  
New Homes Bonus Income (2019/20 - 2025/26) 3,149 
Capital Receipts (Right to Buy - former Council Housing) 300 
External Grants 4,100 
Sale Receipts 2,300 
Disabled Facilities Grant 2,000 
Contribution from Devon Business Rate Pilot 200 
Prudential Borrowing (Refuse Depot)    ** 4,000 
Additional Contributions from Revenue 1,798 
Subtotal - Projected Sources of Capital Funding 17,847 

Total Projected Capital Funding 24,576 

3.3. Funding Shortfall / Funding Gap:

Capital Programme 18/19 to 25/26 27,863 

Total Projected Capital Funding 24,576 

Funding Shortfall / Gap (3,287)

Page 48



4. New Capital PIDs

4.1. All Members were invited to attend a presentation of the new PiDs were presented at 
the Town Hall on the 29th November 2017. The projects are at different stages, some 
are ready to be included in 2019/20 programme, others require further development 
before inclusion in a future year’s programme and others are dependent upon future 
grant funding bids or confirmation of the availability of Section 106 funds before the 
scheme can be progressed. 

4.2. All the projects are reviewed and challenged by the Asset and Capital Monitoring 
Group (ACMG) prior to them being presented to Members and reported to the 
Community & Resources Committee. Consideration is also given to the 
organisational capacity of the council to deliver the projects in the required timeframe.

4.3. PiDs are scored against these specific criteria at the member event in order that can 
where necessary they can be prioritised.  In the current round ten  PiDs have been 
submitted of which nine were recommended (one of which does not fall under the 
capital program, see 5 on CLT’s below) , with an estimated total level of investment 
required of £939K between 2019/20 and 2023/24. The eight new capital schemes are  
summarised in the table below

PID     -  Name Description £'000s

C177  -  Pannier Mkt Upgrade the surface water system, to prevent future 
flooding 45 

C178  -  Play Area Program
5 year Play Area refurbishment programme
- Replacements and upgrades for equipment that is at 
end of life

340 

C179  -  Torrington ATP
Resurface Torrington Artificial Turf Pitch (ATP)
- Requirement of original grant, if not replaced then 
may have to repay grant (£405K)

150 

C180  -  Torrington Sports Hall Refurbish Torrington Sports Hall 60 

C181  -  Town Hall Library Roof Repairs to front wall of Library due to movement.
Required major works to roof of Town Hall. 40 

C183  -  CCTV Replace CCTV monitoring equipment in control room, 
and 4 cameras per year for next 4 years. 39 

C184  -  Calf Street Calf Street Play Park - Phase 1 contribution 25 

C186  -  IT
IT Desktop Strategy for next 5 years
Full cost £600K, but £360K funded from existing NHB 
IT contribution.

240 

Total (recommended PIDs)  939 
   

C176  -  Fountain* Bideford Quay Fountains overhaul and renewal 20 
Total PIDs  959 

.
*The fountain PID was not recommended as it was felt that it should be put on a 
reserve list and considered at a future date.

The ninth scheme recommended does not fall under the capital program, this relates 
to Community Land Trusts (CLTs) see 7 below.

Page 49



4.4   The revised Capital Programme incorporating the above projects, should they be approved would be: 

Project Remaining 
18-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Car Park Refurbishment Programme 0 223 - - - - - - 
Wilkey Field Car Park 653 - - - - - - - 
Honestone St Car Park - 89 - - - - - - 
Rugby Ground Car Park - 52 - - - - - - 
West Appeldore Car Park - 31 - - - - - - 
Depot provision 0 - 5,451 - - - - - 
Disabled Facilities Grant 295 500 500 500 500 - - - 
Affordable Housing - 28 60 70 100 - - - 
Decent Homes Funding 17 10 20 30 50 - - - 
Linear Defence - Westward Ho! - - 451 - - - - - 
Northam Burrows Estuary Works - - 157 - - - - - 
Torridge Cemetery Extension - - - 144 - - - - 
Torridge Bowling Club Wall - 46 - - - - - - 
Gypsy & Traveller Site Provision - 613 - - - - - - 
Capital Improvement Programme 91 50 50 - - - - - 
Torridge Pool Boilers 36 - - - - - - - 
Victoria Park Paths & Services - 100 - - - - - - 
Cattle Market Demolition 80 - - - - - - - 
Barton Hse Hostel Re-modelling - - 77 - - - - - 
Bideford Skate Park 42 75 - - - - - - 
Westward Ho Seawall - - 50 - - - - - 
Caddsdown Telephony 23 - - - - - - - 
Church View Weare Giffard - 16 - - - - - - 
Northam Burrows Gabions 12 - - - - - - - 
Lighting upgrade to LED (0) - - - - - - - 
IT Replacement 8 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 
Capital Digitilsation 99 - - - - - - - 
Folder/Inserter Equipment 1 - - - - - - - 
CEDAR Upgrade (1) - - - - - - - 
Holsworthy Agri Business - - - 3,257 - - - - 
Caddsdown Phase 3 Land & Servicing - - - - 3,114 - - - 
Burrows Centre 17 825 1,298 - - - - - 
Caddsdown Phase 2 Plot 3 1,102 - - - - - - - 
Holsworthy Agri Phase 2 Commerical 47 - - - - - - - 
Westward Ho! - Seafront 
improvements 0 44 - - - - - - 
Westward Ho! - Development Sites 18 - - - - - - - 
Bucks Mill Lime Kiln 7 6 6 6 6 - - - 
Cleave Wood (2) - - - - - - - 
Torridge Transformation (0) - - - - - - - 
Vehicle Replacement Programme 533 95 233 264 526 594 89 2,715 
Strategic Property Reserve 102 400 300 200 100 - - - 
C177  -  Pannier Mkt  45 - - - -   
C178  -  Play Area Programme  125 40 40 25 110   
C179  -  Torrington ATP  150 - - - -   
C180  -  Torrington Sports Hall  60 - - - -   
C181  -  Town Hall Library Roof  40 - - - -   
C183  -  CCTV  16 7 8 8 -   
C184  -  Calf Street  25 - - - -   
C186  -  IT*  480 (60) (60) (60) (60)   

3,181 4,225 8,720 4,538 4,449 724 169 2,795 

28,802 
*Note: C186 IT project uses a portion of the revenue IT capital contribution from 
future years to fund the expenditure in 2019/20

Page 50



4.5. Members should consider, which projects they wish to be included in the Capital 
Programme (copies of the PiDs are available for review) and a brief outline of the 
project with be provided as part of the presentation of the report where it is not self-
explanatory. 

4.6. Resource limitations do not allow for the inclusion of all projects into the programme 
and some may not prove to be feasible/viable.

4.7. If Members approve these new PIDs then the Funding Shortfall / Funding Gap 
increases to £4.2m:

Capital Programme 18/19 to 25/26 28,802 

Total Projected Capital Funding 24,576 

Funding Shortfall / Gap (4,226)

4.8. The Capital Member event on the 29th November 2018, looked at options to close 
this gap (see 5 below)

5. Closing the Gap – Member Event Recommendations

5.1. Capital Programme and Funding Gap:

Page 51



5.2. Options to bring the capital programme back in to balance:

 Bridge gap by borrowing BUT every extra £1m borrow equals £80k per annum* 
charge against the revenue budgets, which are currently projecting a funding 
shortfall  (* assume repayment over 20 years)

 Determine that schemes may only proceed, if they are self sufficient, e.g. 
income generated exceeds financing costs.

 Don’t build, or postpone until funding is identified

5.3. Member Event recommendations to close the gap:

Reduce the Gypsy & Traveller Site Provision to £100K 513 
Reduce the Strategic Property Acquisition fund to fund the 100K for G&T site 100 
Holsworthy Agri Business Phase 2 – Change to self financing 1,204 
Caddsdown Phase 3 - Change to self financing 1,114 
 
Total Savings 2,931 

5.4. These saving recommendations reduce the funding gap as follows:
 Capital Programme balanced until 2024/25
 £3m worth of savings identified

Note: After these savings there is still a funding gap in 2025/26 of £1.3m

Page 52



6. Future Funding Risks & Maintaining Existing Infrastructure

6.1. It should be noted that even with the savings identified at the member workshop, 
that there are no excess funds left in the capital programme extending out to 
2024/25, and there is a £1.3 million shortfall in 2025/26.

6.2. Therefore there is little if any room for new capital projects in the foreseeable future. 
This means that in the years ahead there is no funding available for any major works 
that might be required to maintain the councils existing infrastructure.

6.3. Future funding = £17.8m (see 3.2 above), of which the larges element that is not 
project specific is £3.1m of funding from New Homes Bonus. Members should note 
that there is a risk to this funding, arising from central government either changing 
the calculation or ending the scheme in it’s entirety.

6.4. Option to close the remaining £1.3m gap:

 New Refuse Depot £5.5m (£4m of PWLB borrowing) - £1.5m cost from capital 
reserves.

o Borrow the entire cost of the new depot (e.g. up to £5.5m), and
o Only proceed with the new depot if the projected savings of moving to a 

single site cover the cost of the borrowing.
 
7. Community Land Trusts (CLTs) – Revolving Loan Fund £600K

7.1. A Capital PID has been submitted for a revolving loan fund for community land trusts. 
This does not meet the definition of capital, so falls outside the capital programme. It 
does still require member approval and support to proceed

7.2. Aim:
 Support affordable housing in the wider Torridge area.

7.3. Cost:
 The £600K loan fund can be borrowed from the PWLB
 The interest is charged to the CLTs on any loans, which will cover the interest 

due to the PWLB:

7.4. Key Points:
 £600K Revolving Loan Fund for CLTs to borrow from
 Loans from £75K to £150K
 Loans are secured with a legal charge against the land/property
 Interest charged on the loans at the European Reference Rate in order to be 

state aid compliant 

7.5. Similar schemes from other councils:
 Cornwall support CLTs through loans
 East Devon support the “Beer Community Land Trust” (and borrow the funds 

from the PWLB)

Page 53



Implications

Legal Implications
The Council is required to set a balance annual budget

Financial Implications
These are contained in the report

Substainability Implications
These will form part of detail budget considerations

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Forms part of the strategy process

Lead Member Views

Councillor Hurley:
Date of Consultation – 24th January 2019

“The funding gap on the Capital program is of concern, the gap manifest itself most evidently 
in 2025/26 when the front line refuse fleet is due for renewal. 

The future sources of capital funding are uncertain; in particular the current New Homes 
Bonus scheme in its current form comes to an end in 2019/20.  Currently 50% of New 
Homes Bonus is allocated to capital.

Members should note that the funding gap does not take into account any new Capital 
scheme members may wish to approve in future years.

It is therefore vital that members in conjunction with officers review the Capital Program in 
order to identify options for bridging the funding gap”.

Page 54



Recommendations:

Recommend to Full Council

8. That:

a) The Capital Programme update for inflation, listed at  3.1, is approved.

b) The inclusion of the Capital Projects (PiDs) listed at 4.3 into the Capital Programme 
2019/20 to 2025/26 are approved.

c) The recommendations from the member event to close the gap listed in 5.3 are 
approved

d) Borrowing up to £600K from the PWLB to create a revolving loan facility for CLTs to 
support affordable housing, listed in 7, is approved.

e) Members note that even after approval of the above recommendations, there is still a 
shortfall in 2025/26 of £1.3m

f) In light of the projected deficit on the Capital program of £1.3m that the Capital Program 
be reviewed by members in conjunction with officers in order to determine options to 
address the capital funding gap. The deadline for the review being the 30th September 
2019.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 24 January  2019

Leader - Councillor J Whittaker
Deputy Leader – Councillor D Hurley

Officers Consulted – 
Head of Paid Service
Senior Solicitor

Contact Officer: Steve Hearse  – Strategic Manager (Resources)

Background Papers:
Appendix 1

Page 55



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Annual Review of Parking – Recommendation from Internal Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee
Date: 4th February 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To consider the recommendations of Internal Overview and Scrutiny in relation to the Annual 
Review of Parking report debated at Community and Resources Committee on the 26th November 
2018. 

1. INTRODUCTION

On the 26th November Community and Resources Committee considered the annual Review of 
Parking report of the Planning and Economy Manager .

Within the report there were three recommendations for Committee to resolve upon and 
following some robust debate the following was decided.

Annual Parking Review 

Resolved:

Recommendation 1:  Permits

• That the reserved bay charges be increased from £447 to £500 (Bideford and Appledore)

• That the double reserved bay charges (Willet St only) from £693 to £775

Recommendation 2:  

That additional Free Parking from 12 noon Saturday until 6pm Sunday on Barley Grove car park 
(Torrington), Well Park car park (Holsworthy) and Riverbank Short Stay (Bideford) car park be 
refused.

Recommendation 3:

That the installation of new doors to the existing pay and display machines on the 5 short stay 
car parks identified in the report and an additional two being Manor car park, Holsworthy and 
Sydney House car park in Gt Torrington, to allow for card and contactless payment be 
approved.   The minimum electronic transaction to be £3.00 to encourage longer stays in the 
town and to help to cover additional transaction costs.

2. REPORT

Page 56

Agenda Item 10



A call in request was lodged with the Head of Paid Service by Cllrs Cottle-Hunkin, Pennington, 
Brown and Simmons and was agreed by Cllr Watson for inclusion on the Internal Overview & 
Scrutiny agenda for the 18 December 2018.

Specific reason for the call in was provided by Cllr Pennington:
Grounds: Not enough consideration has been given to the changing nature of consumer 
purchasing in the present economic climate.  With free parking at large supermarkets and 
consumer outlets (e.g Atlantic Village Bideford) and the ever growing use of online purchasing it 
is very important to make every effort to attract visitors to our local town centres.  I believe 
greater focus should be given particularly with regard to recommendation 2 & 3 as this may 
have a detrimental impact on local centres.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
N/A

Financial Implications
The costs of additional free parking are set out in the report to C&R.

Human Resources Implications
N/A

Sustainability Implications
N/A

Equality/Diversity
N/A

Risk Management
N/A

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Parking services are delivered in accordance with the Off Street Parking Places Order 2013 
(as amended).

Ward Member and Leader Member Views
N/A

3. CONCLUSIONS

Community and Resources Committee 26th November 2018

These matters were debated at Community and Resources Committee but the detail of those 
discussions does not appear word for word in the minutes of the meeting.

Most relevant, the changing role of the High St and retail trends were referenced along with how 
reasonable parking charges are actually more beneficial to town centres than free parking (as 
spaces fill with residents and the workforce rather than shoppers).

It was also noted that this had been discussed in depth at a meeting of Community and 
Resources Committee in 2016 and the resolution had been the same at that time.

Page 57



It was mentioned that discussions in Bideford with the Chamber and town council had led / 
should lead to the Council looking to find ways to increase length of stay ( tariffs, events, things 
to do) rather than providing free parking to increase town centre footfall and spend. 

Each Town is already granted two days of free parking per year to be used at a time of their 
choosing.

Internal Overview and Scrutiny Committee 18th December 2018

 Members considered the decisions made by the Community and Resources Committee on the 
26th November and representations were made by one of the Ward Members for Torrington 
reinforcing what the public speakers had said.  She referred to a Freedom of Information request 
which had confirmed that over £30,000 had been earned by the Council through overpayments 
at the machines, either because people did not have the right change or because they were not 
aware of the free periods.  The Planning and Economy Manager responded that the FOI had 
been carried out on a different tariff .i.e. when charges were set at £0.90 and now had moved to 
£1.00 the over-vend is significantly less.

Clarification was sought as to why there was no equality across the car parks and Members 
were advised that the lack of parity between Sydney House and Barley Grove car parks was 
historic and had resulted at a time when the Authority had tried to introduce an element of free 
car parking across a range of car parks.  

The ensuing discussion focused on:

• Whether to look separately at Torrington, Holsworthy and Bideford.
• The trading difficulties all high streets were facing.
• A suggestion to run a pilot scheme to survey the influence of a period of free parking on 
trade.
• The lack of evidence that free parking has had a demonstrably beneficial impact on town 
centre trading.
• Whether traders could offer to refund parking fees if customer spend over a certain amount.
• The shortfall in the Council’s budget.
• Whether the changes being proposed to the mechanics of the machines to accommodate 
electronic payment could incorporate a free parking facility.  It was confirmed that this could not 
be done.

It was proposed by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor T Inch and – 

Resolved:

• That the C&R decisions in respect of recommendations 1 and 3, which had been the subject 
of the call, be accepted.

• That a recommendation be made to Community & Resources consider to introduce a pilot 
scheme to see how periods of free parking might aid trading conditions in our market towns.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

Councillor Pennington had been minded to propose a change to recommendation 3 however, 
following discussion with the Planning and Economy Manager withdrew his motion.

Pilot Free Parking Scheme

Page 58



No detailed consideration of how a pilot free parking scheme could operate has yet been 
undertaken but it should be noted that for the analysis of how successful any scheme has been 
there will need to be robust monitoring of car park use and the fortunes of the businesses that it 
is intended to benefit.  The success or otherwise of a scheme will be very difficult to measure 
given that so many external factors can have an influence on trading conditions.

Evidence from other authorities suggests that whilst free parking can be popular with residents 
there is little to prove that it makes a demonstrable improvement to trading conditions in retail 
areas.   In fact there is some evidence to suggest that free parking can have a detrimental 
impact on trading conditions because parking bays become filled with residents rather than 
shoppers and shoppers are forced to do their business elsewhere.

In Torridge free parking on the Pill in Bideford was introduced as a pilot scheme to see if it 
improved trading conditions.  We have been provided with no information from the town traders 
that this free parking has had a positive impact, instead we continue to hear that trading 
conditions have become more difficult (this is obviously not entirely related to parking).  Our own 
monitoring of the Pill Car Park shows us that on Saturday afternoon the car park fills with many 
residents’ cars that remain on site until Monday morning.

It should also be noted that parking charges are an important revenue stream for the Council 
and are used to cover the costs of service delivery.  The costs of providing a parking service do 
not decrease if free parking is offered and will still need to be paid for.  Given that there are 
extreme pressures on the Council’s budget it seems counter intuitive to recommend any scheme 
that would reduce income without evidence that there would be benefits elsewhere.

Parking at large out of town retail outlets and supermarkets is subsidised for motorists by the 
site owners on the basis that they will generate their revenues from consumers elsewhere on 
that site.  The Council is not afforded that opportunity and instead has chosen to implement 
comparatively low parking charges to help manage the car parks effectively.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members consider the recommendation of Internal Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and decide whether:

a) The recommendation from Internal Overview and Scrutiny be refused.
b) Investigations should be undertaken in a potential free parking pilot and if so;
b)  A further report detail proposals for a pilot should be presented to a future Community 
and Resources Committee.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations:
Contact 
Officer: 

Sean Kearney

Background 
Papers:

Page 59


	Agenda
	3 Forward Plan
	7 Budget 2019/20, Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-20 to 2023-24
	7a Proposed changes to Council Tax Legislation - Long Term Empty Properties and Review Current Council Tax Local Discount Policy
	7b New Homes Bonus Community Grants
	8 Homelessness (Temporary Accommodation)
	9 Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2025-26
	10 Annual Review of Parking - Recommendation from Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee

